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Directors’ report: business review

The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report together with the audited accounts of Tata Steel Europe
Limited (TSE' or the '‘Company'), and TSE and its subsidiary companies (the ‘Group’), for the year ended 31 March 2010

Business description and principal activities

TSE was incorporated on 5 October 2006 as Tulip UK Holdings (No 1) Lynited and commenced trading on 19 Qctober
2006 The company name was changed to Tata Steel Europe Limited on 21 November 2008 TSE i1s a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Tata Steel Global Holdings Pte Limited, an unhsted company in Singapore, having previously been a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Tata Steel Asia Holdings Pte Limited The uluimate parent company 1s Tata Steel Limited ('TSLY),
which 1s a company incorporated in India with shares listed on the Mumbai Stock Exchange and the National Stock
Exchange of India, and with global depositary receipts listed on the London and the Luxembourg Stock Exchanges

On 2 Apnl 2007 one of TSE's subsicdharies, Tata Steel UK Limited (‘'TSUK'), completed the acquisition of Corus Group plc
('Corus’), whose shares as a consequence then ceased to be admitted to trading on the London and Amsterdam Stock
Exchanges, and whose Amencan depositary shares were de-listed from the New York Stock Exchange Corus re-
registered as a pnvate hmited company with effect from 16 July 2007 The consolidated results of the Company have
in¢luded those of Corus from 2 Apnil 2007

The Group has three main operating divisions Stnp Products, Leng Praducts and Distnbution & Building Systems The
activibes of each division are organised into indwidual business profit centres, each of which has its own managing
drector who, wath therr respective management team, has responsibility for the performance of that business Europe,
principally the EU, 1s the most important market for the Group, accounting for 79% of total turnover in 2009/10

The Group produces carbon steel by the bastc oxygen steelmaking method at three integrated steelworks in the UK at
Port Talbot, Scunthorpe and Teesside (the latter of which was mothballed at the end of February 2010 — refer to the
section on Acquisthions and disposals on page 17), and at one in the Netherlands at IJmuden Engineering steels are
produced in the UK at Rotherham using the electnic arc furnace method (although some restructunng of the business was
announced on 26 January 2009, which effectively reduced the manned steelmaking capacity) A number of the Group's
rolling mills and process knes are on the same sites as the steelworks, but most of the Group's operating sites do not
have steelmaking faciiies These include the strp mills at Llanwern, Wales, the tinplate works at Trostre, Wales, the
coating works at Tafarnaubach and Shotton, Wales and Maubeuge, France, the electrical steels works at Newport, Wales
and Surahammar, Sweden, the tube mills at Corby and Hartlepool, England and Qosterhoui, Maastrnicht, Zwyndrecht and
Amhem, the Netherlands (the latter of which 15 to be closed as part of a reconfiguration of tube faciltes in the
Netherlands), the plate milli at Dalzell, Scotland, the rail mill at Hayange, France, the cold rolled narrow stnp mills and
plating ines at Dusseldorf and Trer, Germany and Warren and Bethlehem, the USA, the section mill at Skinningrove,
England, the engineenng and aerospace works at Stocksbndge, England, and the namow strp mill at Brinsworth,
England

The Group has sales offices, stockholders, service centres and joint venture or associate arrangements In a number of
markets for distnbution and further processing of steel products These are supported by vanous agency agreements
There 1s an extensive network in the EU while outside the EU the Group has sales offices in over thirty countnes,
supported by a worldwide trading network

The subsidiary and associated undertakings principally affecting the profits or net assets of the Group in the financial year
are listed in Note 37 to the financial statements

In 2009/10, about 65% of the Group's crude steel production was rolled into hot rolled coll Most of the remainder was
further processed into sechons, plates, engineenng steels or wire rad, or sold In semi-fimshed form Approximately 25% of
hot rolled coll was sold without further processing, approximately 55% was further processed in ¢old roling mills and
coating lines, and the rematnder was transferred to the Group’s tube mills for the manufacture of welded tubes Pnncipal
end markets for the Group's steel products are the construction, automotive, packaging, mechanical and electrical
engmneernng, metal goods, and oil and gas ndustnes

Following the sale of its downstream aluminium activities in 2006, the Group’s aluminium operations were entirely related
to the production of pnmary metal for external customers This production arose In two smelters, at Delfzil, the
Netherlands and Voerde, Germany, although the Group was not a major producer gliobally The sale of the smelters was
subsequently completed in February 2009 and, as a result, these were treated as discontinued operations in the
comparative penod
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The properties set out in the table below are the pnmary processing works of TSE

Approximate Gross external 2009/10 2009710
total operational area of Production Actual
site area burldings capacity (a) output
and plant

|_Major production facilites acres acres mt mt
Port Talbot steelworks, West Glamorgan, Wales 3,100 153 49 33
Scunthorpe steelworks, South Humberside, England 2,700 466 45 27
Teesside steelworks, Redcar, Cleveland, England {b) 2,400 295 39 23
Rotherham steelworks, South Yorkshire, England (c) 1,200 89 13 04
iJmuiden steelworks, the Netherlands 1,858 474 77 57

{a) Production capacity is based on the maximum possible production in the financial year 2009/10 taking into account
upstream and downstream bottienecks, assuming full manning of faciities and including any plant mothballed Figures are
for crude steel production and are broadly consistent wath those submitted to the European Commission as part of its annual
investment and capacity survey In practice, facilites may be manned only to the level required to provide semi-finished
materials for downstream fimishing processes and for sale

{b) Ironmaking and steelmaking at Teesside was mothballed at the end of February 2010

(c) Restructunng of the business dunng 2009/10 resulted in manned capacity reducing to 0 Smt However, with full manning, the
capacity remans 1 3mt

Strategy

As part of the TSL group of companies (the ‘TSL Group’), TSE remains committed to the TSL Group’s vision of being a
global benchmark in value creaticn and corporate cihzenship Good progress has been made in a number of areas as
discussed below, in spite of the senous challenges caused by steel markets in Europe remaining under pressure, supply
of raw matenal being at historically huigh pnces and climate change legislation (especially regarding CO, emissions)
remaining a pressing Issue

Benchmark in value creation

The value creation strategy 1s centred on two elements The first element 1s about Increasing the quality of earnings of
existing assets Dunng the past financial year the TSL Group, while facing extremely adverse market conditons in
Europe, maintained an emphasis on quality of earnings in decision making and running the respective businesses TSL's
operations in India retained good profitability levels throughout the downturn and recovered faster than most competitors;,
reflecting the strategic advantages of these operations, including access to growth markets, raw matenal integration and
cost competitiveness Restornng profitability was a pnonty for the European operations, which were faced with some of the
largest contractions in steel demand in history

TSE acted swiftly to respond to this downturn by launching two initiatives, ‘Weathenng the Storm’ and ‘Fit for the Future’
Woeathenng the Storm, a comporate-wide programme, included a senes of short-term actions to mitigate the impact of
reduced steel demand [t volved a reduction in use of third party services, flexible production to reduce energy cost,
reduction in employment cost relating to overtime and putting major capital expenditure programmes on hold Fit for the
Future inthatives were put tn place to address longer term i1ssues such as TSE's future competitiveness and targeted
savings of £350m Key actions undertaken as part of this work included

= Divestment of the aluminium smelters at Delfzy), the Netherlands and Voerde, Germany

= Asset restructunng, including a new business mode! for engineenng steels, with a focus on speciality steels

whilst the bar business 1s integrated with Scunthorpe
= Ratonalisation of downstream businesses in tubes, distnbutien and bullding systems
= Overhead re-engineenng and efficiency improvements

Furthermore, in February 2010, TSE mothballed elements of its Teesside operations, notably the Redcar blast furnace
and Lackenby steslmaking (refer to the section on Acquisitons and disposals on page 17) The reason for this was the
failure in Apnl 2009 of four international slab buyers to fulfil their obligations under a ten-year Offtake Framework
Agreement, thus burdening TSE with exposure to the small, niche merchant slab market Management believes that, due
to Teesside's cost position it would not be able to compete in this global market, as a merchant slab supplier, on a
sustainable basis TSE continues to explore options that could provide employment for the employees affected, including
the sale of the mothballed operations (for which it has appointed Citibank as an extemnal independent advisor to the
process)

To better positon itself for the future, the TSL Group 1s re-aligning its organisation to better serve its customers and to
leverage ifs scale Key measures being taken in this regard include
= Functions across the TSL Group have been consolidated into TSL Group-wide functions such as procurement,
quality management, health and safety, environment and global information services A TSL Group corporate
centre management team has been set up to oversee the TSL Group functions
* The Tata Steel International network 1s being optimised to increase market reach and channel TSL Group
products to dfferent geographies
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»  To further improve the competitive position in Europe, work on transforming TSE into a more customer focused
company, operating as an integrated manufacturing and sales orgamsation 15 in progress The ‘Customer First’
programme 15 aimed at better serving customers’ needs through developing a more customer sector focused
sales and markeling orgamisation In parallel, TSE Is also investing in systems {o improve the supply chamn
veloaity and reliability in order to improve customer service and reduce working capital

The second element of the value creation strategy 1s selective growth in growing markets where the TSL Group has a
competitive advantage The TSL Group, therefore, continues to selectively invest for the future with the am of
strengthening its position in growth markets hke India, and of increasing the levels of raw matenal integration and of
energy self-suffictency across the TSL Group

An example of investment commenced in the last year aimed at strengtherming and growing TSE was the announcement
it October 2009 of an investment of €35m 1n its rail facility at Hayange, France, pnmarnly to supply a six-year contract
secured with the French raiway operator, SNCF

TSE 1s supportive of the TSL Group’s strategy of extending its exploration and mining portfolig, including iron ore and coal
projects that may benefit TSE Dunng the past year a joint venture agreement between the TSL Group, New Millennium
Capital Corporation and LabMag Limited Partnership was signed in November 2009 for development of the Direct
Shipment Ore Preject in Canada, with a resource of about 100mt In July 2009, the TSL Group increased its stake In
Riversdale Mining Limited, its partner in the Benga Coal Project in Mozambique, to 19 38% In October 2009 TSL and
Riversdale approved development of stage 1 of the Benga Coal Project at a cost of US$270m

Benchmark in corporate citizenship

The TSL Group believes its corporate citizenship responsibilites are of strategic importance These include providing a
safe working place, respecting the environment, canng for communities and demonstrating high ethical standards TSE,
therefore, gives these responsibilities pnonty 1n the allccation of capital and management time More details of TSE's work
and achievements n the areas of sustainability, environment and safety are set out 1n later sections of this Directors’
report

Group performance

Summary
Percentage
change
From continuing operatons, unless stated 2009/10 2008/09 %Yo
Revenue and delivenies
Turnover (£ millions - £mj)
UK 2,157 3,207
Rest of Europe 4,245 6,570
Rest of World 1,655 2,520
8,057 12,297 -34
Steel delivenes {milhon fonnes - mt) 142 188 -24
Earnings £m £m
Operating (loss)/profit before restructunng & impairment costs and loss on
disposals (688) 306
Restructuring and timpairment costs charged agamnst operating costs {168) (448)
Loss on disposals charged against operating costs (9) {9)
Operating loss (865) {151) -473
Net finance costs (232) (273)
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates 11 17
Taxation credit 157 77
Loss after taxation from continuing operations (929) (330} -182
L.oss after taxation from discontinued operations - (136}
Loss after taxation (929) (466) -99

Tata Steel Europe lamited Report and Accounts 2010 3




1

Directors’ report: business review

Key Performance Indicators (KPi)

The Board and Executive Committee monvor a wide rangs of performance indicators, both financial and non-

financial, on a regular basis

Key performance indicators and definitions-

Review of performance

EBITDA margin This shows earnings (before
restructunng & impairment costs and loss on
disposals) before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortsation as a percentage of Group tumover
It measures how efficiently revenue is converted
into EBITDA

-2% for 2009/10 (EBITDA £(142)m)

This was a detenoration from 7% (EBITDA £893m) in
2008/09

2009/10 was impacted by the sharp market downtum
that started in H2 2008/09, butwith a marked
recovery by H2 2009/10 to 5% EBITDA margin

The Group retumed to profit by the end of the
financial year

Return on Iinvested capital This shows « -13% for 2009/10 (2008/09 5%)

operating profit (before restructunng & +  2009/10 was impacted by the sharp market downtumn

impairment costs and loss on disposals) as a that started in H2 2008/09

percentage of invested capital (calculated as total

equity adjusted for net debt and net retirement

beneft assets) It measures the return, or profit,

generated from the money invested in the Group

Working capital/turnover This shows year-end o 16% for 2009/10 (2008/09 21%)

working capital as a percentage of the annualised * Favourably affected by recovery in turnover in Q4

quarter 4 revenue for each relevant year It 2009/10 and management action to reduce working

measures how efficiently the Group 1s able to capital

convert inventones into delivered goods and

subsequent cash receipts

Net debt This shows total debt less cash and *  £3,921m at the end of 2009/10 (2008/09 £3,755m)

cash equivalents, and iquid resources It reflects « Impacted by negative EBITDA with partial offset from

the Group's overall hiquidity position and 1s used strong working capital control and the sterling value

by management for planning purposes of euro denominated debt reducing as year-end
sterling exchange rate against the euro 1s stronger at
March 2010

Safety Lost time inyury frequency (LTIF) The » Combined contractor and employee rate of 1 5 for

Group measures LTIF to provide a basis of 200810 (2008/09 1 8)

companson with industry peers The frequency + 15% mprovement compared to 2008/09

rate 1s reported per million employee and *  With the confinuation of year on year improvement in

contractor hours worked, as a rolling twelve- LTIF, the Group focus will move to ‘recordables’ from

month average 2010111 e toinclude non-LT! and occupational
health ilinesses The 2009/10 rate was 6 §

+ ‘Recerdables’ are defined as all work related
ncidents resulting in harm to a person or persons
excluding those that require no more than first aid
treatment

Service Deliveries on fime in full (OTIF) OTIF s s 83% for 2009/10 (200B/09 85%)

one of the Group's standard measures for s Negatively mpacted in 2009/10 by operational
customer service excelience [t reflects the Issues assocliated with ahgning output levels to the
percentage of delivenes that are fulfilled by the significantly weaker market demand

date or ttme first committed to the customer

Capacity uhlisation This shows liquid steel «  75% for 2009/10 {2008/09 81%)

production as a percentage of volumes achieved « Nommal KPI of 'hquid steel production’ replaced

prior to the economic downturn i1 2008/09 It
reflects the speed and extent of the recovery In
steel demand

dunng penod of significant downturn
Teesside excluded from the analysis as not
operational for the full year

Environment CO; emussions The Group
measures Its COz emissions per tonne of steel
produced through the integrated steelmaking
route, including direct and indirect emissions

2 01 tonnes CO; per tonne of crude steel for 2002/10
{2008/09 2 01)

To provide internaticnal comparability, the Group has
moved from an intemnal reporting scope to the new
World Steel Assocration framework for the
measurement of CO, 2008/09 data has been
retrospectively corrected to align with this

Group overview

The preceding financial year of 2008/09 was one of extreme contrasts, with strong demand and prices n the first half
followed by a sharp drop 1n orders and prices in the second half, as the global recession severely impacted the steel
industry The depressed market conditions evident at the end of 2008/09 continued into 2009/10 and, whilst some modest
recovery was evident by the third quarter, sales volumes and pnces remained well below those expenenced n the first
half of 2008/09 It 1s against this background that the financial figures for the year have been reviewed
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Total Group turnover for the penod was £8,057m (2008/09 £12,297m), 34% lower than the previous year Average
revenue per tonne decreased for each of the Group's steel divisions and was 13% lower year on year, and delivenes were
also sharply reduced by 24%

Group average revenue per tonne was £562 compared to £654 in the previous year Average revenue per tonne, which
had fallen sharply in the fourth quarter of 2008/09, continued to fall through the first half of 2009/10 before some market
improvement saw a pick up in the third quarter that was sustained through to the end of the financial year Nevertheless,
average revenue per tonne in the last quarter of 2009/10 was approximately 13% lower than the equivalent penod in
2008/09

Deliveries followed a similar pattern, although the volume peak in 2008/09 was earlier than the prnice peak with shamp falls
following 1n the third and fourth quarters The lower volumes persisted through 2009/10, although the first quarter
represented the low point, before a modest recovery by the fourth quarter The split in delivenes between the first and
second half of the year was 6 8mt and 7 4mt respectively, which contrasted with 11 3mt in the first half of 2008/09

The net impact on turnover of the price and volume changes was to increase it from £3,845m in the first half to £4,212m n
the second half

The Group operating loss for 2009/10 was £865m (2008/09 £151m} The significant detenoraton of £714m from the
previous year was due to the continued fall In deliveries and prices, and the losses incurred at Teesside Cast Products
('TCP’) as a result of four international slab buyers withdrawing from a ten-year Offtake Framework Agreement (refer to
the section on Acquisitions and disposals on page 17), and was in spite of benefits from business improvement inttiatives
undertaken by the Group The operating loss before restructunng and impairment costs and foss on disposals at £688m
was £994m worse than the previous year Within the year, the first half continued the substantial detenoration of the
previous six months, before a sharp improvement was seen in the second half leading back to profit by the end of the
financial year

The operating loss included restructuring and impairment costs of £168m (2008/09 £448m) These costs were mainly in
respect of the decision to mothball the TCP operation with effect from February 2010 (£115m) and the further
restructunng announced on 25 June 2009 and 9 July 2009 (refer to the section on People on pages 11 and 12) In the
previous year, there were provisions for redundancies that mainly related to strategic measures announced on 26 January
2009, impairments of property, plant and equipment, and impaiments of values onginally attnbuted to long-term shipping
contracts and excess land as part of the far value exercise post acquisition of Corus by TSL

The operating loss before restructunng and imparrment costs and loss on disposal referred to above was significantly
affected by the continued fall in pnces through the first half of the year {nearly 10% down on the equivalent period in
2008/09 and over 20% down on the peak quarter) and afso the continued fall in volumes (around 40% down on the
aquivalent penod in 2008/09), which stabilised after the first quarter In addition the losses incurred at TCP following the
sfab buyers withdrawal began to mount This was all in part offset by a fall m raw matenal prices (refer to the section on
Raw matenals on page 9) and the measures taken by the Group to reduce costs through its Weathenng the Storm and Fit
for the Future inthatives Nevertheless, the sharp detenoration in the Group's operating result seen at the end of 2008/09
continued through the first half of 2009/10

As discussed above, volumes and prices began to recover through the second half of the year, albeit to levels still well
below those seen n the first half of 2008/09 However, the effect of this coupled with the increasing financial benefits of
the Group's Fit for the Future imhiative started to feed through into a significantly improved result in the second half of the
year

The Group’s net finance cost in 2009/10 was £232m (2008/09 £273m} The reduction in net finance cost of £41m was
prnncipally due to the lower level of interest rates through the year that reduced the interest expense on the Group's
borrowings and the reduced level of the Group's secuntisation programme following the dechine in the level of UK
receivables

The Group share of post-tax results of jomt ventures and associates was a profit of £11m (2008/08 £17m), with the
reduction from 2008/09 reflecting the impact of the economic downturn on these entites

The Group loss before tax for the penod was £1,086m (2008/09 £407m), with taxation amounting to a credit of £157m
(2008/09 £77m) and loss after tax from continuing operations of £929m (2008/09 £330m) The sale of the alumirium
smelters to Klesch resulted in these being treated as discontinued operations in 2008/09 There were no discontinued
operations i tha year (2008/09 loss of £136m), with the pnor year largely reflecting the loss on disposal of these entites
In 2008/09

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment amounted to £192m in the financial year (2008/09 £338m) The
reduction from the previous year reflected continued constraint on investment, which had sfowed due to the impact of the
downturn n the second half of 2008/09 Nevertheless, four major schemes were completed dunng the year the
installation of a new continuous galvarusing hne and 3-stand cold roling milf at IJmuiden, the Netherlands, a BOS gas
recovery equipment and energy management system at Port Talbot, Wales, the conversion of the 7-stand finishing mill at
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IUmuiden with heavy bending and hydraulic gauge control, and a ladle furnace scheme at lJmwden Other major schemes
In progress include the following
1 The reline of the Queen Anne blast furnace at Scunthorpe, England to enable the furnace to operate for another
ten years (or 12mt) prior to a further repair
2 The enhancement of the rail faciity at Hayange, France in response to growing European demand for longer rolled
rait lengths in support of future high-speed rall projects and, in particular, to support a six-year contract secured
with the French rail operator, SNCF

Busmness environment and prospects

Dynamucs of the business

In the pericd, European markets accounted for 79% of turnover, of which the UK amounled to 27% The principal factors
influencing financial performance are, therefore, the economic climate in the UK and mainland Europe, and exchange rate
relativities, particularly sterling to the euro and the US dollar, and the euro to the US dollar Additionally, steel 1s a capital-
intensive Industry and changes in demand in one region cften lead to a rapid change in the geographical sales pattern as
producers seek to maintain high capacity utiisaton As a result, \n addition to market developments in the UK and
mainland Eurcpe, changes in the global market for steel also infiuence the financial performance of the Group Seasonal
effects also have some impact on the Group

e Economic chmate
The global recession of 2008 and 2009 represented the largest peacetime downturn in economic activity since the 1930's
The sharp contraction in output, which began n the first half of 2008/09, continued in most economies through to the
second or third quarter of 2009 Following unprecedented fiscal and monetary policy stmuius measures and direct
Government support for some mstitutions and sectors, a stabilisation of demestic demand and the turning of the inventory
cycle saw most economies emerge from recession by the end of 2009

Developed economies bore the brunt of the cnsis, with the combined output of OECD countries contracting by 1 3% n
2009/10, compared to growth of 2 6% for non-OECD countnes ‘Emerging Asia’, in particular China and India, were the
main contnbutors to non-CECD growth with both countries maintaining positive, albeit slowing, growth throughout the
downturn

The USA emerged from recession in the third quarter of 2009 after four quarters of negative growth and a cumulative
dechine in output of 3 7% USA GDP declined by 1 0% overall in 2009/10 following a similar decline in 2008/09 The retum
of positive growth reflected recovery in consumer spending, the turn 1n the inventory cycle and continued government
stimulus This also comcided with some improvement in business confidence and a stabilsation of a very depressed
housing market Nevertheless, the USA finished 2009/10 with unemployment close to 10%, consumer confidence still
weak and the need for further debt reduction by consumers, business and govemment

The euro-zone economy contracted by 2 7% in 2009/10 following a contraction of 1 3% in 2008/09 and emerged from
recessicn In the third quarter of 2009 However, some member countries have continued te contract (Greece remained in
recession in the first quarter of 2010, as Spain marginally exited recession) By the end of the downturn, the euro-zone
had contracted by 5 1% from the peak, and industrial production and exports had posted cumulative declines of 14% and
13% respectively by the end of 2009/10 Meanwhile, reflecting a collapse in confidence, tight credit and a large fall n
demand, private business investment continued to decline untt the end of 2009/10 and posted a cumulative decline of
17 2% Reflecting the large contraction in output, the eurc-zone unemployment rate finished 2009/10 at 10%, compared to
9% at the beginning of the year and 7% at the beginning of the cnsis 2009/10 also saw detenoration in govemments’
fiscal position with resulting elevated sovereign credit nsk concerns for scme euro-zone members, particulary Greece, but
also Portugal, Spain, Ireland and Italy This has led to a perception of euro-zone mstability and policy uncertainty, and has
coincided with a weakening of the euro in the second half of the year

Similar developments were seen in the UK, which emerged from recession in the final quarter of 2009, following six
consecutive quarterly declines and a cumulative dechne of 6 2% from the peak In 2009/10, UK GDP dachned by 37%
following a decline of 1 4% n 2008/09 In stimulating the economy, the UK government saw its budget deficit nse to 14%
of GDP from 3% pre-cnisis, while net public debt hit 70% of GDP by the end of 2009/10 In addition to lowenng the base
rate to 0 5% (the lowest level ever) the Bank of England completed a ‘quantitative easing’ programme totalling £200
bilion This allowed UK credit markets to return to more normal conditions, tmproving hquidity and allomng large
companies to access credt However, the UK banking system remains imparred and lending to small to medium
companies has remained weak, which in itself was a constraint to recovery Reflecting this and a large drop in domestic
and external demand, UK industnal production declined by 11% from the peak by the end of 2009/10, while private
business investment saw a decline of 27 2% At the end of 2009/10, UK confidence remained affected by concems
around the pending general election, leading to weakening in steriing in the first quarter of 2010

In contrast to most developed and emerging market economies, China and India were able to avoid recession and
recorded GDP growth of 10 1% and 6 9% respectvely in 2009/10 in spite of a slowdown from pre-cnsis growth rates as
export demand collapsed The continued positive growth 1in both countnes reflected significant fiscal stmulus, particularly
in China, focusing on infrastructure spending, boosting domestic spending and social welfare improvements [n contrast,
in other emerging markets such as in the Commonwealth of Independent States ('CiS’) region, the Baltic States and much
of Eastern Europe there were declines in GDP often in excess of those seen in developed markets This has, to a large
extent, reflected an overdependence on foreign capital, which was withdrawn at the onset of the cnsis Latin Amenca,
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particularly Brazil, emerged from a relatively shallow recession at the beginning of 2009/10 as a result of significant fiscal
stimulus as well as a strong recovery in demand for commodities

The global recovery in the second half of 2009/10, which was skewed to commodity intensive demand from emerging
markets such as China and India and the normalisation of commodity inventory levels, has seen substantal nses n
commodity prices from the lower Jevels seen at the end of 2008/09 and the beginning of 2009/10 This I1s best highlighted
by crude oIl pnces, which have doubled from around US$45/barrel at the beginning of 2008/10 to around USE81/barrel by
the end of 2009/10

s  Exchange rates
Exchange rates remain very important to the competitiveness and results of the Group With 79% of turnover accounted
for by sales in Europe, the value of sterling against the euro 1s of major mportance to sales revenues Furthermore, the
results of the Group’s major European operations must be translated from euros into stering Turnover in other export
markets and major supplies purchases, ncluding iron ore, coal and associated freight, are mainly influenced by the US
dollar

In general, strengthening of sterling adversely affects the Group’s results in three ways (and weakening of sterling has the
opposite beneficial effect) First, 1t directly reduces the sterling value of export revenues from the UK This exposure I1s
substantially hedged by forward currency sales to the extent of the Group’s contractual commitments, but such a hedge I1s
effective only for that defined tme Second, it improves the relative compettiveness of steel producers in countries with
weaker currencies enabling them to discount prices in the UK market If is not practicable for any significant penod to
hedge this competitive exposure Third, it exposes UK custormers to similar pressures leading to a reduction in demand for
steelin the UK

The weakening of steriing against the euro that took place through 2008, therefore, positively affected the Group's
performance by improving relative competitiveness against producers 1n countnes with stronger currencies and by giving
some buffer from low cost imports from countries with weakening currencies, such as the CIS However, the weakening of
sterling against the US dollar over the same penod put further pressure on the already high purchasing cost of US dollar
priced raw matenals

The average spot steriing to euro exchange rate in 2009/10 was €1 13 (€1 21 in 2008/09), tha average spot sterling to US
dollar exchange rate was US$1 59 in 2009/10 (US$1 73 1in 2008/09) and the average spot euro to US dollar exchange
rate was US$1 41 in 2009/10 (US$1 43 in 2008/09) Although there was a significant weakening of sterding durning the
latter part of 2008 against both the euro and the US dollar, the exchange rate dunng 2009/10, particularly against the
euro, has traded within a relatively narrow range

»  Global steel market
Steel producers seek to maintain high capacity vtiisation and, if demand levels in one region of the world are not suffictent
to sustain this utihsation, producers tend to try to increase sales to other regions to achieve desired outputs There 1s a
well-developed intemational trade in steel that facilitates rapid changes i trading levels, leading to an equally rapid
movement in pnce levels

For 2009, global steel demand 15 estimated to have been around 7% lower than in 2008 However, there were marked
differences between the main developed econcmies that suffered the worst effects of the recession and a number of
emerging economies, notably China and India, which continued to see improvements in steel demand In most countnes,
including the main developed stee! markets of the EU, the USA and Japan, and also Brazil and the CIS, the detenoration
in the global economy resulted in a slump in demand In key stee! using sectors Coupled with subsequent heavy
destocking that continued through much of the year, apparent consumption in these regions fell sharply in 2009 In
contrast, In China and India the effects of the recession on the steel market were much less severe and short-lived, and
steel demand in both countnes continued to grow dunng 2009, albeit more slowly than previously

Global steel demand began to improve In late 2009 and 1s expected to exceed pre-cnsis levels duning 2010, led by China
and India However, in the developed markets most severely hit by the recession, notably the EU and the USA, it will take
several years to return to pre-cnsis levels In contrast, China and India are both expected to reach new record highs
dunng 2010

In the EU, extremely weak activity in the main steel using sectors, coupled with continuing sharp destocking, resulted in
apparent steel consumption faling by around 45% during the first half of 2009 The market downturn began to level out
after the summer as business condittons began to pick up slowly, supparted by an improvement in nternational trade and
government stmulus measures As a result, apparent consumphon 1s estimated to have fallen by around 35% for the
whole of 2009 By the final quarter of 2009, stocks through the supply chain had generally been brought down to a stable,
low level With relatively low imports and reduced levels of domestic EU mill delivenes, EU steel market supply and
demand became much better balanced The EU steel market 1s expected to continue to recover in 2010, with the stock
cycle being the main dnver In the first half of the year as inventories are replemished from current low levels, before
underlying consumption picks up from mid-2010 and gains more strength in 2011 as the business chmate improves
However, the recovery I1s expected to be slow, with demand still around 25% below pre-cnsis levels in 2010/11

In 2009, global steel production at 1 2 billlon tonnes decreased by 8% compared to 2008 Steel production declined in
nearly all the major steel producing countrnies and regions, including the EU, North America, South Amenca and the CIS
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However, Asia, in particular China and India, and the Middle East showed positive growth in 2009 Excluding China, steel
production was 21% lower compared to the previous year The following table provides a geographical breakdown of this
crude steel production

%

World crude steel production 2009 mt of total
Western Europe (EU27} 139 12
Japan 88 7
North Amenica 82 7
Other Europe 29 2
China 567 47
QOther countnes 301 25
Total ) 1,206 100

Source World Steei Association

China remained the main dniving force in world steel production, with output of 567m¢t in 2009, up 14% compared to 2008
China’s share of world steel production also contnued to grow to 47% Chinese output was at a reduced lave! in the first
months of 2009, but then picked up sharply to reach record monthly levels later in the year In other BRIC countres,
output increased in India by 4% to 60mt, but decreased by 21% in Brazil to 27mt and by 13% in Russia to 60mt Qutputin
most other regions also fell In the USA, steel output decreased by 36% to 58mt with significant production cuts being
made by producers EU output decreased by 30% to 139mt as European steel producers also cut production in response
to the slump in demand Steel producers in the USA and EU began to bring idled capacity back into production during the
second half of 2009 as market conditions improved, and this trend continued into 2010 EU crude steel output 1s expected
to be at 75-85% of 2007/08 levels during 2010/11

The downturn in the global steel market resulted in a substantial fall in stee! frade volumes dunng 2009, with total volumes
down by around 25% Chinese exports reduced sharply dunng the first part of the year so that, by March 2009, China
became a net importer for the first time in over three years However, this posiion was short-ived and with exports
steadily recovenng, China returned to be a net exporter in August 2009 and 1s expected to remain so through 2010

The collapse in EU demand with associated pnice falls and destocking resulted in a sharp decline in steel imports into the
EU during 2009 Fimshed steel import volumes for 2009 were around 50% down on 2008 levels at 17mt Russia was the
larges! single import source, followed by Turkey, Ukraine and South Korea EU third country imports began to nse again
from the final quarter of 2009 and this upward trend contnued into 2010, with indications that China, largely absent dunng
2008, 1s beginning to return to the EU market For 2010, assuming the global market remains broadly in balance, overall
EU imports are expected to nse more or less in ine with the projected growth in demand However, if nsing stee! oulput
outstnps demand, then oversupply elsewhere could lead to increased import pressures in the EU

Global effective steel making capacity utiisation fell sharply in the second half of 2008 as steelmakers cut production in
response to faling demand, reaching a low of around 61% in December 2008 In 2009, global steel production began to
recover, pnmanly in China, and by December 2009 capacity utiisation had improved to around 76% While significant
excess capacity will persist, capacity utiisation 1s expected to nse towards ‘pre-crisis’ levels of around 90% over the next
2-3 years

Steel spot prices for all products in all regions fell sharply during the second half of 2008/09 as global demand sfumped
This pnce weakness continued through the first half of 2009/10, with only a limited recovery dunng the second half in line
with the slow pick up in demand Steel producers suffered a cost-pnce squeeze as product prices fell more rapidly and
more sharply dunng the downturn than iron are and other input costs The pnce recovery to date has vaned by product
and region, but in general has been strongest for strip products in Asia and the USA, and more muted in Europe and for
lorg products generally Steel spot prices still remained well below recent histoncal levels at the end of the financial year
With economic and steel market conditions becoming more favourable, and stee! producers needing to recover
significantly higher raw matenal and other input costs, steel product pnces have increased more strongly dunng the first
months of 2010/11

Competition

The market for steel 1s very competitive with high levels of international trade The main international competitors for the
Group are other EU steel producers However, the Group faces significant additional competiton from other steel
producers worldwide The Group competes on the basis of the range and quality of its products, price, delivery
performance and overall customer service

The Group’s iquid stee! production in 2009/10 was some 15mt (approxmately 7mt in the first half and 8mt in the second
half} The Group s part of the wider TSL Group, which produced 21 8mt in 2009 making it the tenth fargest producer in
the world and the second largest producer in Europe Desprite the consolidation that has taken place in the steel industry
In recent years, levels of global industry concentration still remain well below those of other metals and mining sectors

Seasonalty

Seasonal effects have some mpact on the Group $Some slowing in demand 1s evident dunng the summer months when
many customers, especially those in Southern European markets, are closed for an extended penod, and similardy over
the Chnstmas and New Year holidays Many of the Group’s plants have planned shutdowns to coincide with these
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penods, when essential mantenance can be undertaken Sales of some products are also subject to some sector-specific
seasonal factors, for example the slowdown in construction activity over the winter months and the seasonal vanations i
automotive build programmes to fit with new vehicle registration dates

UK market

The estimated UK demand for all carbon steel products in 2009/10 amounted to 8 2mt, with estmated UK demand for the
Group's main carbon steel products at 6 2mt, some 25% lower than in 2008/09, reflecting the impact of the economic
downturn on steel using industnes

The Group’s estimated UK market share in 2009/10 for main carbon steel products was 56% (2008/09 51%) It s
estimated that other UK steel companies had a 5% market share, while imports had a 39% market share In the first half,
the Group's estimated share was 60%, detenorating to 53% in the second half as imports started to increase

Other European markets

Underying EU steel consumption fell by an unprecedented 25% n 2009 as steel using industnes were hit hard by the
economic recession The downtumn began fo ease dunng the secend half of 2009 with underlying demand expected to
pick up slowly from mid-2010 and gain more strength in 2011 as business activity improves Actvity in the EU
construction sector 1s estimated to have fallen by over 6% in 2009 The pace of decline 1s expected to slow to around 1%
in 2010, with modest growth of around 3% forecast for 2011 EU automotive output fell by 26% in 2009, but, boosted by
govemnment scrapping incentives, new EU car sales ended 2009 just over 1% down As a result, stocks and production
have become much better balanced with market conditions However, with incentives ending, the outlock for 2010
remains uncertan A smali iIncrease 1n output of around 3% 1s forecast for 2010, with a more sustained recovery of around
6% expected for 2011

Raw materials

The pnncipal raw matenals in the carbon and engineenng steelmaking processes are iron are, metallurgical coal and steel
scrap Dunng the year ended 31 March 2010, approximately 18 Omt of iron ore and 8 9mt of coal were imported by the
Group Iron ore was imported principally from Australia, Canada, South Afnca, South Amenca and Sweden, and coal
princtpally from Austraha, Canada and the USA The Group's external scrap requirement for the year was approximately
1 1mt, of which some 0 43mt was purchased in the UK, 0 39mt was purchased in mainland Europe and 0 25mt was
purchased from Russia

The purchase pnce for these matenals 1s subject to market forces largely beyond the Group’s control and is affected by
demand from other steel producers, supply capacty and freight costs, among other factors Steel scrap prices are
generally based cn spot market prices

Supply contracts lasting typically between three and five years are entered into for iron ore and coal, with pnces typically
negotiated annually In 2010/11, some supplers of ron ore and metallurgical coal have moved to quarterly fixed price
agreements rather than annual fixed pnces The Group policy for iron ore and coal Is to ensure that at least 60% of the
requirement 15 accounted for by long-term contracts Remamning iron ore and coal 1s purchased through one-year
contracts, options and spot markets at market rates, providing flexibility and commercial leverage

The market reference price of iron ore fines for the calendar year 2009 saw a decrease of around 33% compared to 2008
(a year that saw increases of around 65% compared to 2007) This decrease was dnven by the dramatic fall off in
demand from developed countries in late 2008 The pnce of hard coking coal fell even more significantly, by around 60%
In 2009 compared to 2008 (having increased by more than 200% in 2008 compared to 2007) This was due to the
especially high pnce in 2008 affected by severe flooding in Australia and the fall off in demand 1n early 2009 due to the
global financia!l cnsis However, pnce increases for iron ore and coal in 2010 are expected to be large (refer to the section
on Prncipal nsks and uncertainties on page 16)

The Group also benefited from the significant fall in worldwide energy pnces dunng the year, and saw natural gas and
electricity prices fall as a result of this and of over supply throughout the year Natural gas and electricity market pnces
softened by 18% and 10% respectively, dniven by high gas import availabiity, including LNG, a de-linking of gas prices
from oll pnices, lower power demand from industnal consumers and more reliable nuclear generation

Financial review

Capital structure and treasury policy

Average net debt dunng the perod was £3,800m {2008/09 £3,737m) of which £5674m {2008/09 £135m) related to
borrowings from wathin the TSL Group and net debt at 31 March 2010 amounted to £3,921m (2008/09 £3,755m)
{including the value of cross-currency swaps) Of the net debt at March 2010, approximately 20% refated to borrowings
from within the TSL Group, with the equivalent figure at March 2009 being 7% Cash and short-term deposits at 31 March
2010 amounted to £311m (2008/09 £392m)

Borrowings

The majonty of the borrowings within the Group are accounted for by a £3,670m senior facility agreement ("SFA’) entered
into on 27 Aprl 2007, which refinanced the borrowings used to finance the acquisition of Corus by TSL On 19 December
2007, the SFA was secured by guarantees and debentures granted by matenal subsidianes of TSE {other than Corus
Nederland B V (‘CN’} and its subsidianes) and by a share pledge over the shares in CN The SFA 1s subject to financial
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covenants including cash flow to net debt service, net debt to EBITDA, EBITDA to net finance charges, and maxmum
caprtal expenditure levels The SFA lenders have no recourse to TSL

The SFA was syndicated dunng 2007 and restructured to some extent, the final composition, in approximate amounts, at
the close of syndication was

(a) an amortising term loan facllity of five years £1,565m,

(b) a non-amortising term loan facility of five and a half years £550m,
(¢) an amortising term loan facihity of six years £299m,

(d) an amortising term loan facility of seven years £649m,

(e) a revolving credit facility of five years £500m, and

(f) 2 loan note guarantee facility of five years £80m

The SFA term loans are denominated m euros, steding and US dollars However, 100% of the proceeds received in US
dellars, and part of the proceeds received in sterling, were converted using cross currency swaps into euros

Following the impact of amortisations and prepayments as well as cross currency swaps, the sterling equivalent of the
amounts outstanding under the term loan tranches of the SFA totaled £3,074m at 31 March 2010 (2008/09 £3,378m). In
addition, £100m (2008/09 £91m) of the revolving credit facility was drawn down at 31 March 2010

In early 2008 the unprecedented increases in the pnce of input costs, particulary raw matenals, substantially increased
the Group's working capital requirements To meet this requirement TSE borrowed £250m from Tata Steel Global
Holdings Pte Limited and the full amount of the loan was injected as equity into TSUK £150m of this equity injection was
used to prepay the SFA at the end of September 2008

Consenis request

As a result of the severe downturn in its markets TSE, through its subsidiary TSUK, requested and obtained the consent
of the majonty lenders under the SFA to certain amendments to the terms of the SFA (the "Amendments’) to cover the
anticipated penod of the downturn As part of the Amendments reached, testing of earmnings-related covenants was largely
suspended until March 2010 and then resumed with significantly greater flexibiity than was the case with the ongmnal
covenants in the SFA Furthermore, there will be no increase in the level of interest margn cost for the remaining ife of
the loan The revised covenant package did not involve any additional finance from the lenders under the SFA or any
rescheduling of TSE's debt-servicing commitments Subject to execution by the agent of an amendment and restatement
agreement (the "'ARA’) and satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out theren, the consent of the majonty lenders
under the SFA to such request was obtained on 29 May 2009 The ARA was executed and the Amendments took effect
on 12 June 2009

TSL undertook that TSE, through its subsidiary TSUK, would receive further support in the form of £200m of additional
equity by the end of June 2009 and £225m of subordinated loans by the end of September 2009, and the amounts were
recewved by the due dates In accordance with the amended terms of the SFA half of the proceeds of this support were
used to prepay the SFA a prepayment of £100m was made in June 2009 and a further prepayment of £112 5m was
made in May 2010

Other borrowmngs

Other borrowings at 31 March 2010 included the secuntisation programme detalled below, bank overdrafts of £20m and
floating rate guaranteed loan notes of £27m, and finance lease obhgations of £102m These finance lease obligations
included the caprtalisation of long-term supply agreements under IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement contains
aLease’

The Group has a secuntisation programme under which it may offer to assign all of its nghts, title and interest In a pool of
invoiced UK trade recevables to a third party that 1s funded ulbtmately in the commercial paper markets This programme
was increased on 13 March 2008 from £275m to £300m and the matunty extended from Apn! 2009 to June 2009 Further
extension of the programme was dependent on a number of factors, the pnncipal one being the agreement of the SFA
consents reguest, which was obtained on 29 May 2009 and became effective on 12 June 2009 {see the section on
Consents request above) The secuntisation pregramme was extended and its matunty 1s now 31 March 2011, although,
as a consequence of the severe downturn in the Group's markets, the pregramme was reduced on 29 June 2009 from
£300m to £150m This reducticn mirrored the lower level of UK trade receivables eligible for use in the programme As at
the end of March 2010 the secuntisatton programme was fully drawn in an amount of £150m (2008/09 £202m)
Subsequent to the year end the programme was increased on 4 June 2010 from £150m to £250m

Of the total borrowings, £4,092m carried interest on vanable rates, which ranged at penod end between 0% and 5 87%,
with a2 weighted average of 3 1%
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Credit ratings
In spite of detenorating market condiions in the steel sector, the three leading rating agencies have mamtained therr long-
term ratings as follows

TSUK TSUK

Corporate rating Bank facility rating
Moody's B2 B2
Standard & Poor's B+ BB
Fitch B+ BB-

Credif insurance

As a result of the severe economic downturn, and in particular the impact on steel and related industnes, credit tnsurers
reduced and in many cases withdrew credit imits Where the Group credit insures recervable exposures to its customers
and where credit lmits were reduced, the unpact was naot significant as the level of exposure itself reduced with lower
volumes and prices In the majonty of cases where credit imits were removed, the exposure to each customer was
assessed on a case-by-case basis and secunty sought or the decision taken not to trade Where the Group's suppliers
credit insure their credit risk to companies within the Group, credit insurers also took similar action with respect to credit
imits The Group has managed this situation through discussions with credit insurers and supphers

Fmnancial nsk management

T8E's financial nsk management 1s based upon sound economic objectives and good corporate practice The Group's
man financtal nsks are related to the availabilifty of funds to meet its business needs, and movements in interest and
currency exchange rates as well as commodity costs Derivative and other financial instruments are used to manage any
exposures, where considered appropnate Further details of its financial nsks, and the way the Group mitigates them, are
set out in Note 21 to the Report & Accounts on pages 5110 55

People

There were no fatal accidents to employees or contractors duning the financial year but, tragically, a customer's employee
sufferad a fatal accident in Apnl 2009, as did an employee in Apnl 2010 The former acaident occurred when a vehicle
dnven by a TSE employee was reversing at a customer's premises and an employee of the customer became trapped
between the vehicle and a bullding as he provided directions The latter fatality occurred dunng a crane maintenance
activity in the slab yard at Scunthorpe

The last time njury frequency rate for employees and contractors combined fell by 15% compared to the previous
financial year With the continuation of year on year improvement in LTIF, the Group focus will move to measuring total
recordable incidents from 2010/11 ‘Recordables’ are defined as all work related incidents resulting in harm to a person or
persons, excluding those that require no mere than first aid treatment The 2009/10 rate for recordables was 6 5

Health and safety continues to be the Group's first pnonty as it strives to achieve the ambition of being an industry
benchmark At the TSL Group level, health and safety i1s reviewed at all Board meetings with a Health, Safety &
Environment committee established to camy out more detaled reviews and overall leadership The integrated and
systermuc Health & Safety Management System introduced in TSE i 2008 1s being evaluated for TSL Group-wide
apphcation, with strong leadership being demonstrated by a governance process for improvement actons at executive
level, and regular safety tours by Board and Executive commutitee members Competence development continues to be
undertaken at all levels in the orgamisation, with a World Steel Association award being received by TSE for its semior
manager health and safety traiing n 2008, and a natwnal tramuing award for its ‘Felt Leadershup’ programme
Implemented in steelmaking and wonmaking operations In addition, dunng 2010/11 the Group will raise hazard
awareness through a Group-wide ‘Zero Harm’ campaign

At the end of March 2010 the number of employees in the Group was 35,400, compared to 40,700 on 31 March 2009
The reduction mainly resulted from actions taken to align the business with significantly reduced demand expenenced, as
explained below The analysis by division and by country at the end of March 2010 was

Stnp Products 17,600 UK 20,600
Long Products 11,100 The Netherands 10,600
Drstnbution & Building Systems 5,100 Germany 1,200
Other 1,600 Other 3,000

The average number of employees dunng the year was 36,100

On 26 January 2009, the Group anncunced a senes of strategic measures to enhance its competitive position, indicating
that this would put around 3,500 jobs at nsk On 25 June 2009 and 9 July 2009, the Group announced additonal
measures bulding on that restructunng prograrnme, and aimed at aligning production and manning with anticipated
demand The resulting consultation process identfied around a further 2,410 jobs at nsk On 8 May 2009, the Group
announced that it had opened negotiations that might result in a decision to mothball its TCP operation as a consequence
of the failure of four internationat slab buyers to fulfil thewr obligations under a ten-year Offtake Framework Agreement
signed in 2004 Discussions with employees and therr representatives concluded in August 2009, but the plant continued
to operate for a penod (refer to the section on Acquisitions and disposals on page 17) However, in announcements in
December 2009 and January 2010, the Group confirmed that TCP's Redcar blast furnace and Lackenby steelmaking
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would be mothballed by the end of February 2010 The Group continues to operate a number of activites at the site,
inctuding the Redcar wharf, Redcar coke ovens, Scuth Bank coke ovens and some of the power generating capacity The
partial mothballing of the site will ultimately result in the loss of about 1,500 jobs The Group also continues to have a
substantial wider presence in the Teesside area, with operations in Hartlepool, Skinningrove, the Teesside beam mill and
Teesside Technology Centre All these Teesside facilities stll employ more than 2,500 people

UK Steel Enterpnse Limited ('UKSE’), the Company's subsidiary that helps the economic regeneration of communities
affected by changes in the steel industry, has announced an £8 3m package of support measures in the wake of the job
losses at Teesside The package will include doubling the level of UKSE investment into new and growing businesses in
the region, an expansion of The Innovation Centre on Hartlepool's Queens Meadow Business Park supported by One
North East, a new Regeneration Fund offenng a combination of grants and loans designed specifically for start-up and
fledgling businesses and extra funds for UKSE's special community support fund, which will back local projects and fund
business support initiatives

There are well established and effective arrangements at each business location for communication and consultation with
works councils and trade unmion representatives, to systematically provide employees with information on matters of
concem to them Well developed policies and procedures have operated in all parts of the Group for a considerable time
for the purpose of consulting and negotiatng with trade umons, the European works council and employee
representatives on a regular basis, so that views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions that are
Iikely to affect their interests Approximately 70% of UK employees are members of trade unions, with the equivatent
figures for the Netherands and Germany estimated at 45% and over 50% respectively The Weathenng the Storm and Fit
for the Future programmes mcreased awareness on the part of all employees of the financial and economic factors
affecting the performance of the Group

The Group’s policy 1s to give full and farr consideration to applications for employment made by disabled persons, having
regard to their particular aptitudes and abilittes, and employs them where suitable work can be found The requirements of
Job applicants and existing members of staff who have a disability are reviewed to ensure that reasonable adjustments are
made to enable them to perform as well as possible during the recruitment process and while employed All reasonable
measures are taken to ensure that disabled employees are given the opportunity and facilities to participate fully in the
workplace, in training and in career development and promotion opportuniies In addition, every effort 1s made to find
appropnate alternative jobs for those who become disabled while working for the Group

The Briish Steel Pension Scheme ('BSPS’) is the pnncipal defined benefit pension scheme of the Group In the UK The
tnenmial valuation of the BSPS as at 31 March 2008 was completed on 30 January 2009 Members contnbute to the
scheme at the rate of 6% of pensionable earnings Following the tnenmal valuation, the trustee and the Company, after
cbtaining the advice of the BSPS Actuary, agreed that Company contributions to meet the cost of future service benefits
should remain at 12%, subject to review at future actuanal valuations The next formal valuation of the scheme s
scheduled to be undertaken as at 31 March 2011

As part of the acquisition of Corus, TSL confirmed its commitment to facilitate the merger of the Corus Engineening Steels
Pension Scheme (‘CESPS’) into the BSPS, when comparable funding levels permitted and the trustees of the two
schemes agreed Afler detaled consideration of the merger 1ssues, agreement was reached on terms and a merger
effected on 6 Apnl 2009 Under the terms of the merger agreement, the Company will contnbute £10m per annum over a
seven year penod in order to clear the funding deficit In CESPS and bnng both schemes to comparable funding levels,
and, If requested to do so by the BSPS trustee, will make payment of any eary retirement redundancy strains on the
BSPS as they arise n respect of CESPS service attnbutable to active CESPS members at the date of the merger
Following the merger, CESPS assets and habilities transferred in full to BSPS The first year's contnbution of £10m was
paid on the merger date Additionally, payments totaling £23m were made in respect of early retirement strains over the
penod to 31 March 2010

In January 2008, Corus announced proposals to close the BSPS to new recruits following consultation with employees
and their representatives Discussions regarding altermnative pensicn arrangements for new recruits are ongoing

The Stichting Pensioenfonds Hoogovens ('SPH’) scheme is the pnncipal defined benefit pension scheme of the Group In
the Netherlands As a result of global market conditions, the nominal funding level of the SPH fell to 100% on 2 February
2009, but has subsequently recovered to 118% at 31 March 2010 Dunng 2010 the level of contnbutions has been set at
the maximum level allowed, and no indexation will be applied to pensions In payment and pensionable earnings
Contnbutions to the SPH in 2009/10, which can vary according to the funding ratio of the scheme, stood at 13 3% from
the contnbuting company and 5 9% from members relative to gross pensionable earmings

Further information on the Group's pension schemes 1s provided in Note 32 on pages 60 to 64

Environment

The Group believes that respect for the environment 1s critical to the success of its business It s committed to mimimising
the environmental impact of its operations and its products through the adoption of sustainable practices and continuous
improvement in environmental performance To implement its environmental policy, systems are in place that focus on
managing and minimising the effects of its operations 100% of the Group’s manufactunng operations are certified to the
independently venfied international environmental management standard, {SO 14001
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Climate change 1s one of the most important 1ssues facing the world today The Group recognises that the steel industry 1s
a significant contnbutor to man-made greenhouse gas enwssions as the manufacture of steel unavoidably produces
carbon dioxide (CO3)

The Group currently participates in a voluntary agreement with the Dutch government to benchmark and maintain its
energy efficiency in ine with world-best standards The prnmary requirement of the agreement 1s an energy efficiency
improvement of 2% per annum In the UK, a revised agreement has been negotiated with the govemment to reduce total
energy consumption by 15 8% compared to 1997 levels by the end of 2010 In February 2008 the Group announced an
investment of £60m n energy management technology at its Port Talbot site that will reduce CQ: emissions by
approximately 300,000 tonnes per annum In addition to these improvements, the Group is also working with other
steslmakers in Europe on a major research and development project, ULCOS (more detall is provided in the section on
Technology below), with the ambitious objective of reducing CO2 emissions per tonne of steel produced by 50% by 2050

The EU Enussions Trading Scheme (‘EU ETS') came into force on 1 January 2005 The scheme currently focuses on CO.
emissions and applies to vanous production processes, including those used tn the production of steel Each EU member
state has its own nationally negotiated emission rights allowance, which Is allocated back to CO; emitiing sites Sites have
permission to emit CO; up to the value of their nghts allocation Any surplus can be sold and any deficit can be purchased
on the emission rights market Phase 1 of the EU ETS covered 2005 to 2007 and Phase 2 covers 2008 to 2012, with
usage of rights being externally venfied and reconciled annually Fallure to possess adequate rnghts to match emissions
was penalised at €40 per tonne of COz in Phase 1, increasing to €100 per tonne in Phase 2, plus the cost of purchasing
these nghts The Phase 2 emission nghts trading pnce at the end of March 2010 was approximately €13 per tonne of
COz Phase 3 will run from 2013 to 2020 inclusive

The Group met its environmental obligations in Phase 1 of the EU ETS and expects to do the same in Phase 2 CO:
allocations to the Group under the UK National Allocation Plan {{NAP') broadly reflected ils requirements for Phase 1
Under the Dutch NAP, the Group was short of nghts for Phase 1, although overall the Group was in surplus As a result of
lower production levels since October 2008, together with additional emssion nghts granted under the new entrant clause
of the Dutch NAP in respect of the lJmuden facility, the Group now expects to be In surplus over Phase 2 Excess nights
can either be sold in the market or retained for future compliance purposes

The Group's products are part of the solution to climate change Steel has inherent environmental advantages, as it 1s
durable, adaptable, reusable and recyclable [t s used, for example, in affordable and energy-efficient modular homes,
and in hghter, stronger and safer transport systems CO: emissions in steel production can be offset by reductions in
emissions through the life-cycle of steel products, achieved through effective product design and through recycling at end-
of-ife Some related developments are discussed in the section on Technology below

The Group aims to contnbute positively to the communities around or near to its operatons As well as providing
employment for many thousands of people, it actively participates in community inihatives and encourages biodiversity
and nature conservation

The TSL Group's first Corporate Citizenship Report was published in October 2009 This report details the progress made
in 2008/09 i terms of health, safety and environmental performance, as well as covering social, community and ethical
1ssues This s available on the Group's website www corusgroup com

Technology
In September 2009 the structure of the research and development activites within the TSL Group was changed from
separate organtsations in Europe and India to one global organisatton working for the benefit of the entire TSL Group
Throughout the past year research and development werk undertaken by TSE was split between programmes funded by
business units and a strategic programme (also known within the Group as ‘thrust areas’) Key elements of the strategic
programme being led by TSE are
= Heavy end of the fufure For the medium term, the objective Is to develop technology and operational practices to
achieve cost-effective productivity nses with existing installations, to maximise recycling, and to reduce environ-
mental and CO; footpnnt The High Efficiency Liquid Iron and Oxygen Steelmaking ('HELIOS') project 1s targeting a
step improvement in low-cost, high-productivity iron and steelmaking Work undertaken to reduce the blast furnace
coke rate, to allow the use of low-cost coal in the coke blend without compromising coke quality and to increase the
pulvensed coal injection level has already delivered substantial financial benefits In steelmaking, the focus 1s on
process control improvement, yield improvement and increased use of scrap For the longer term, focus i1s on the
collaberative Ultra Low CQ; Steelmaking ('ULCOS') project aimed at reducing €O, emissions from ore-based
steelmaking by at least 50% by 2050 Of the two potental technologres identified for further development that are
of interest to TSE, pilot scale expenments with an oxygen blast furnace have delvered promising results The other
technology 1s based on smelhing reduchon using a cyclone converter, for which a pilot instaltation will be erected on
the lImuiden site, following approval by the Dutch government of a grant of €5m
= New generafion high strength steels This involves projects to develop new metallurgical options to enable the
Group to meet future demands for tugh strength steels This work 1s focusing on steel grades that combine ulira
hugh strength with good formability
* Advanced coatings developments This is a programme set up to respond to the market drive to reduce coatings
costs and mamntain the Group’s positton in the market for coated products Four work streams have been defined
namely physical vapour deposition ('PVD'), development of zin¢ free coated products, high speed galvanising and
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high speed organic coating lnes The PVD project is a joint development with POSCO and a second pilot ine for
this technique was commissioned in 2009 at lJmuiden
» Photovoltaic (PV’} coating systems This 1s amed at developing thin film PV systems TSE 1s working with the
Australian company Dyesol to develop a dye-sensitised PV system and 15 also explonng a range of other thin film
technologtes, including silicon based systems A dedicated facility for the development of PV systems, including a
pilot line, has been set up at Shotton works
= Automotive This project seeks to develop matenals that can deliver new levels of weight saving in two areas
1 OQuter panels and body structures - looking at extreme stesl grades, vanous stee! laminate matenals and
developments n stable, thin wall crash structures, and
2 Steels for electnic power trains - maximising opportunities as electnc motors become ubiquitous i future power
train solutions

Cue to the economic downturn, research programmes have been under substantial pressure throughout the year
Therefore, In order to avod losing core expertise, support has been received under the ‘Knowledge Worker Scheme’ of
the Dutch government This temporary scheme 1s aimed at retaining specific expertise by seconding researchers from
companies that have been strongly hit by the cnisis to universities or semi-governmental research institutes to work in
fields that are important to society as a whole The scheme will run untit the end of 2010

Process developments

As part of the Weathenng the Storm and Fit for the Future imitiatives, much effort in process research dunng the year was
focused on improvements delivenng cost reductions or a stronger compettive posibon The Process Improvement Teams
set up to ensure application of best practice across the Group have spent much time in benchmarking the TSL Group's
operahons, particularly in Europe, against major competitors and 1dentifying best practces within the Group that can be
transferred to other sites

Examples of process development work undertaken included work at the new bloom caster in Scunthorpe aimed at
improving the internal quality of the blooms by reducing the effect of segregation Redesigning the section of the caster
where the solidifying steel 1s squeezed substantially improved bloom quality Anocther example of process improvement
was in the area of surface quality, where a project has been established to understand the evolution of defects in the
vanous production steps and to gather statistical plant data in order to identify the root causes

Capital expenditure has also been directed at process improvement with the installation of heavy work roll bending and
hydraulic capsules at the lJmuiden hot stnp mill improving thickness and shape performance, coupled with development
of a new shape and profile control strategy for the finishing mill to ensure optimum performance with heavy work roll
bending

Product developments

Responding to growming demand from the motor industry for stronger, formable matenal at a competitive cost, TSE has
launched the DP800 HyPerfonn° steel grade This ss a high strength, formable and weldable steel that combines the
advantages of dua! phase ('DP’) and transformation induced plasticity grades The HyPerform product 1s considered a
leading development in the automotive field and key customers have already started their approval procedure for the new
grade in anticipation of commercial producton

A new cold rolled dual phase steel grade (DPG00CR) was also commercialised during the year, aimed at the automotive
and gas bottles market, but with further deployment opportunities for the grade being explored

In the offshore and gas industry there 1s a trend towards exploting reserves in ever deeper water As the pipelines for
these fields have to resist hydrostatic collapse duning installation, they are required in high strength grades with thick walls
and reduced diameters Moreover, such pipes must resist hydrogen induced cracking {(‘HIC'), a fallure mode that can
occur dunng the transportation of reserves containing hydrogen sulphide gas Recent tnals have shown that the HIC
resistance capability of such pipes can be extended to even smaller diameters and greater wall thicknesses than
previously could be offered, thus giving TSE a competiive edge where HIC resistance requirements are extremely
demanding

Another market with high demands on mechanical performance and durability of matenals 1s the renewable energy sector
In November 2009 TSE launched a new high-quality steel grade specifically amed at use in the construction of wind
towers The exact composition and process windows for producing this grade were developed in collaboraton between
the Group's research laboratonies and engineers in Scunthorpe and Skinningrove Rigorous tnspection and testing,
including ultrasonic scans, are camed out to ensure the steel 1s free from defects that would affect its mechanical
performance

The tinplate product needs to be passivated to safeguard important matenal propertes like visual appearance,
lacquerabihity and lacquer adhesion Passivation of tinplate 1s traditionally based on the use of chromates However, use
of chromates 1s to be phased out for reasons of occupational health and safety, and to ensure compliance with European
legislation TSE 1s working with other European tinplate producers to develop a new, environmentally friendly and safe
passivation process, with the work involving the development of new passivation chemistnes, for example based on
siloxanes
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Application developments

TSE has provided to Jaguar LandRover ('JLR’} technical assistance (Early Vendor Involvement, ‘EVI') on the LRX baby
Range Rover programme This included detalled reviews of the concept body structure to optimise matenal choice and
component design for both cost and weight reduchon From the results, JLR accepted thirty-seven ideas to be progressed
for production in 2010/11, with resulting cost and weight savings and reductions to CO2 emissions over the programme
Ifetime

Two projects supported by the European Research Fund for Coal and Steel have helped to evaluate bullding performance
{including the work of developers and contractors) at three sites in the UK and to provide relevant technical information
As a result, significant room for improvement in the practices of downstream orgamisations in the constructon supply
chain has been wentfied, allowing TSE to improve its service to customers, including advice on design for energy
efficiency, low carbon buildings, bullding detailing and development

Also for the construction sector, DippleKlick 1s a patented push fit joint for use 1n Corus Living Sclutions (‘CLS’) modules
where a narrow separating wall 1s required, such as a muli-storey student residence The jomt is integral to the ight steel
galvanised framing studs and tracks of the infill wall panels in CLS modules Cument technology (self piercing nivets) 1s
unsuitable, because machinery 1s too large for the narrow wall sections required

The expertise of TSE's Environmental Research Department has been used to assess the release of particulate matter
from TSL's Jamshedpur site and of options for abatement This has been done to support the commitment made by TSL
that total emissions of particulate matter from the Jamshedpur site will not increase above the 2006 level when the
produchion capacity 1s increased as planned to 8 7mt per annum in 2010

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group's management operates a nsk management process that was developed to comply with the corporate
govermance requirements set out in the 'Intemal Control Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code’ as i1ssued by the
ICAEW A full assessment of business nsk 1s undertaken annually to produce a Group-wide nsk profile that identifies the
Group's significant nsks, the probability of those nsks occurning and their potential impact should they do so The Group’s
management has the pnme responsibility for the design, operation and adequacy of prevention, monitonng and
maodificatton practices adopted to manage the nsks identified The annual review 1s conducted at the end of the third
quarter in each year and 1s reported to the Executive committee, Audit committee and Board The Executive commities,
business unit managing directors and funchonal heads undertake the assessment of the principal nsk areas and related
nsk management practices for the Group Executive committee members are responsible for assessing strategic nsk and
business unit managing directors are responsible for assessing operational nsk, and for ongoing monitonng and adequacy
of related control procedures Functional heads advise on specific functional 1ssues

Monthly reports are made to the Executive committee and the Board dealing with any significant changes in nsk and
controls in the pernod Regular detalled reports are also made to the Executive committee on a quarterly basis concerning
nsk, and associated control and monitoning procedures The results of these reports are reported to the Audit committee
and the Board

The Group has a well-established internal audit function that reports to the Director Finance on a day-to-day basis, but
which also has a direct link with and access to the chairman of the Audit committee, who meets with the Director Audit
several times each year The Audit commuttee receives reports from the internal audit function four ttmes a year and also
considers the terms of reference, plans and effectivenass of the function The internal audit function works closely with the
external auditors [t provides iIndependent and cbjective assurance to the Board, the Audit committee and the Executive
committee on the systems of internal control employed in the Group, and provides a systematic, discipined approach to
evaluating and improving the effectiveness of nsk management, control and govemance procedures

The Group aims to mimimise its expenditure on insurance and to reduce its exposure to catastrophe losses to a level
consistent with its ability to carry such lesses To this end it maintains insurance cover, which it feels 1s appropnate for its
business, through a combination of self-funding and policies purchased from external insurers

The key forward business nsks affecting the Group are as follows

Health, safety and environmental matters

The Group’s businesses are subject to numerous laws, regulaticns and contractual commitments relating to health, safety
and the environment in the countnes in which it operates The nsk of substantal costs and habihbes related to these laws
and regulations are an inherent part of the Group's business The Group has policies, systems and procedures in place
amed at ensunng substantial cornphance, and there 1s a strong commitment from the Board and the Executive committes
to enforce compliance, to continuously improve safety performance and to minimise the impact of the Group's operations
on the environment (refer to the sections on People on pages 11 and 12, and on Environment on pages 12 and 13)
Environmental matiers extend into the EU ETS, which 1s currently in Phase 2 covenng the penod 2008 to 2012 (more
detall 1s provided in the sechon on Environment on page 13} Whilst the Group continues to invest to reduce CQO;
emissions, auction based propasals by the EU Commission for Phase 3 of the scheme could, as they currently stand,
have a significant negative financial impact post 2012 However, these proposals are continuing to evolve and no
decisions have been made at this stage
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Financing

TSL financed the acquisition of Corus in part by a significant level of debt On 30 April 2007, TSUK signed an agreement
for £3,670m of semor secured faciliies for this purpose and to provide future working capital for the Group, which had final
matuntes of between five and seven years The agreement 1s subject to financial covenants (refer to the Financia) review
on pages 9 and 10) and, in response to the sharp detenoration in economic condiions dunng the latter half of 2008, the
Group held successful discussions with banks in the syndicate to modify the terms of these covenants to cover the period
of the downtumn (For further discussion on this and credit insurance 1ssues refer to the Financial review on pages 10 and
11 ) Nevertheless, repayment of the debt and adherence to the modified covenants continue to represent risks The
forecast requirements and future financing strategy of the Group continue to be closely monitored and ‘downside’
sensitiviles undertaken regularly to ensure the adequacy of faciites, and to assess actual and projected adherence to
covenants

Key personnel

The Group's abiity to attract and retan good qualty, appropnately qualified and expenenced staff is important to
achievement of its objectives The Group has In place an effective benefits structure, including long-term incentives, and a
talent management programme to optimise development of employees There is regular communication with employees
through vanous means

General economic conditions

The Group’s financial performance I1s influenced by the econormic climate in the UK and mainland Europe and by changes
tn the global market for steel, which 1s discussed in detail in the sechon on Business environment and prospects on pages
6 to 9 The associated rnsk matenalised during 2008/09 with the economic recession, the collapse In global demand for
steel in the second half of the year and the actions of the four international slab buyers in not fulfiling their obligations
under an Offtake Framework Agreement (discussed in vanous sections of thts Directors' report) The Group's response
was to cut production by over 40% and to introduce a corporate-wide savings programme under the banner Weathenng
the Storm, which I1s discussed In the section on Strategy on pages 2 and 3 To remain well posiyjoned when recovery
comes, the Group accelerated the restructunng of European assets through the launch of the Fit for the Future inthatives,
again discussed in the section on Strategy on page 2 Dunng the second half of 2009/10, customer demand slowly
increased, which resulted in the recommissioning of certain previously idled production plant and the announcement of
various Increases in sales pnces Nevertheless, the Group announced the mothballing of much of its TCP operation by
the end of February 2010

Raw materials and energy

The Group’s raw matenals depend, to a large extent, on worldwide supply and demand relationships, notably won ore,
metallurgical coal and scrap The first half of 2009 saw low demand and falling prces for these matenals as steelmakers
in the developed world cut production to match the dramatrc fall off in steel demand China also slowed imports of raw
matenals for a few months in late 2008, but this reversed and China actually tncreased imports of iron ore and coking coal
In 2009, despite the global financial cnsis By the end of 2009 ore and coking coal markets were tight again and significant
price nses for these matenals are expected in 2010 The Group continues to closely monitor market conditions and seeks
to putin place contractual arrangements to ensure secunty of cntical supplies

Some supphiers of ron ore and coking coal to the seabome markets began to shift from annual to quarterly pncing in Apnl
2010 The Group 1s working with supphers to agree competitive prices and has agreed a range of pncing bases from
quarterly to annual Also the Group 15 adjusting its commercial policy to maximise opportunities presented by moves to
shorter term pricing Price increases in ron ore and coal from Apnl 2010 will be substantal, reflecting the tightening
markets caused by ongoing increases in demand from China The Group has long term supply contracts sufficient to
cover its requirements (refer to the section on Raw matenals on page 9)

Impact of China

China continues to export steel, albert at lower levels than in previous years, notably to the US and ihe EU This bnngs the
nsk that it may impact the markets into which TSE selis, resulting in loss of market share and volume or further reduction
in steel pnces This nsk apples not just to Chinese exports, but also to exports from countries such as Ukraine, Russia,
South Korea and Turkey The Group monitors import activity closely and, where unfair trading behaviour 1s evident, seeks
appropnate action (such as ant-dumping or ant-subsidy measures) from the EU Commission and other authontes
against relevant suppliers

Performance and operations

The Group can be adversely affected by the cyclical nature of the steel industry and general economic condttions,
particularly as the production of steel 1s caprtal intensive, with a high proportion of fixed to total costs Whilst the Group
seeks to differentiate its products and to reduce the proportion of fixed costs, it stll retains focus on improving its
operaticns and their consistency, and taking measures to protect against unplanned interruptions and property damage
This 1s achieved through a vanety of measures such as Continucus Improvement programmes, enhancing techrical
knowledge and skill, improving process safety, targeted capital expenditure and focussed nsk management
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Pensions

The Group provides retirement benefits for substantially all of its employees, including defined benefit plans (refer to the
section on People on page 12) The market value of pension assets and labiities 1s significantly greater than the net
assets of the Group and, therefore, any change ¢an have a matena!l impact on the Group's financial statements as well as
impacting the level of company penston contributions The Group has put in place a framework to manage pension nisks
and works with schemas’ trustees to ensure that obligations remain affordable and sustamable As part of this framework
proposals have been announced to close the UK defined benefit scheme to new recruits, and to cap the Company
contnbution rate for future service for exishing members at an affordable and sustainable level A range of measures has
already been adopted by the pnncipal schemes in the Group to manage liabiites and to protect against investment
market nsk exposure, whilst maintaiming asset performance Further actions will be considered as and when appropnate

Exchange rates
The Group denves most of its revenue in the EU, but has substantial assets and sales in the UK, which 1s not a member
of the euro-zone Major raw matenal supplies purchases are, however, denominated mainly in US dollars As a result, the
Group 15 impacted by the relationship between sterling, the euro and the US dollar {refer to the Section on Exchange rates
on page 7) The Group operates a hedging policy to mimimise the volatiity of rapid and sigmficant movements in these
exchange rates

Acquisitions and disposals

On 29 January 2009 the Group announced that it had signed a memorandum of understanding with Marcegagha SpA and
Dongkuk Steel Mill Company Limited with a view to the latter two companies jointly acquinng a stake in the TCP business
of TSE However, on 8 May 2009 the Group further announced it had opened consultations that might result in a decision
to mothball its TCP plant in North East England, as a consequence of the failure of four intemational slab buyers (the
‘Consortium’) to fulfil their obligations under an Offtake Framework Agreement with a ten-year duration that was signed in
2004 As a result, the agreement with Marcegagha and Dongkuk was also subsequently terminated Although the
consultahon process came to an end in August 2009, TSE continued to make strenuocus efforts to secure a long-term
future for the plant whilst diverting internal orders to TCP and secunng external orders at an estmated cost to the
company of approximatety £130m However, operating a 3mt per annum merchant slab plant has proved not to be
sustainable without a long-term strategic partner As a result, in announcements in December 2009 and January 2010,
the Group confirmed that TCP's Redcar blast fumnace and Lackenby steelmaking would be mothballed by the end of
February 2010 The Group continues to operate a number of activities at the site, including the Redcar wharf, Redcar
coke ovens, South Bank coke ovens and some of the power generating capacity The partial mothballing of the site will
ultimately result in the loss of about 1,500 jobs Corus UK Limited, a subsidiary of TSE, has submitted the dispute with the
Consortium to arbriration and that arbitration 1s ongoing (see Accounting policies section on page 18)

On 12 May 2009 the Group completed the purchase of a 12% shareholding of Corus Yasan Metal Sanay ve Ticaret AS,
making that company a 100% subsidiary of TSE

On 1 March 2010 the Group sold its 50% share in Cindu Chemicals BV, a company processing the coal tar released from
the coke plants at the IJmuiden site of TSE, to Koppers International BY At the same time, Koppers acquired the
remaining 50% share in Cindu Chemicals BV from Cindu BV and has now taken full ownership of the company

Accounting policies

Details of the mamn accounting policies used by the Group appear on pages 29 to 35 The Group’s consclidated financial
statements to 31 March 2010 have been prepared in accordance with Intermnational Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS)
as adopted by the EU

The preparation of financial statements includes the need to make assumptions and estimations that affect the amounts of
assets, labiities, revenues and expenses being reported Actual results may differ from those estmated under different
assumptions and conditions For the penod under review, the most significant areas of judgement for the Group under
IFRS related to property, plant and equipment, goodwill, current asset provisions, deferred tax, retirement benefits,
provisions created for redundancy, rationahsation and other related costs, emission nghts and financial denvatives Each
of these areas of jdgement, which are discussed below, relies upon a number of estimates and 1s subject to
uncertainties These can vary between different countnes in which the Group operates and there 1s a large degree of
interdependency between them As a result, no indication i1s generally given below of the impact of a change 1n any one
particular assumption However, all of these factors are considered at least annually and, where reassessment or
changing circumstances lead to matenal change, this 1s discussed in the relevant review of the pericd and disclosed fully
in the Notes to the consolidated accounts

A significant part of the capital employed by the Group 1s invested in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
and an estimate must be made of the effective hfe applhed to each category of such assets The estimates made are
based on a number of factors including the accumulated expenence of effective asset lives from histoncal business
operations This In tum determines the annual depreciaton charge, which has an impact on eamings Also, where
appropnate, the carrying values of these fixed assets are reviewed for impaiment by reference to their value in use

Goodwill 1s also assessed for impairment on an annual basis The assessment 1s based on discounting forecast cash

flows using, as a sensitivity, a pre-tax discount rate of 12%, based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital This
IS a similar basis to that used for property, plant and equipment

Tata Steel Europa Limited Report and Accounts 2010 17




Directors’ report: business review

Duning the normal course of frading, judgement must be used to establish the net realisable value of vancus elements of
working captal In parbcular, provisions are created for obsolete or slow moving inventory, or where there are indications
that the pnce at which the inventones can be realised in the normal course of business (after allowing for the cost of
conversion from their existing state to a fimshed conditon and for the cost of marksting, seling and distnbution) 1s lower
than the cost of the inventory, and also for imparments against the recoverabilty of trade receivables These provisions
are created at levels appropnate to the indwidual circumstances of each business within the Group

Two significant judgements must be made in relation to deferred tax balances Firstly, an sstmate must be made of the
effective rate at which habiliies are expected to reverse This rate 1s based on historical expenence and forecasts of the
timing of such reversals, in companson with the effective corporation tax rates that have been substanbally enacted in
each junsdiction at the end of the year Secondly, a judgement must be made as to the level of assets to be recognised
for brought forward taxable losses Deferred tax assets amounting to £190m have been recognised in the balance sheet
at 31 March 2010 The deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses are regarded as recoverable against future forecast
taxable profits that the directors consider to be more lkely than not to occur Deferred tax assets have not been
recogrised in respect of total losses of £1,930m, of which £1,473m are UK losses

Results of the Group include costs relating to the provision of post-retirament benefits for employees The cost of these
benefits and the present value of any related pension assets and liabilites depend on such factors as life expectancy of
the members, the salary progression of current employees, the returns that the pension fund assets will generate in the
time before they are used to fund the pension payments, and the rate at which the future pension payments are
discounted The Group uses estimates based on previous expenence and third party actuanal advice m detenmining these
future cash flows and the discount rate Details of the assumptions used for each of the Group's defined benefit schemes
are givenin Note 32

In addition, IFRS allows a number of choices for certain aspects of pension scheme accounting and the Group adopts
those that it considers appropriately reflect the balance sheet nsk of the schemes and the Group's approach to
management of that nsk In particular, all actuanal gains and losses are recognised immediately within reserves, and the
operating result includes a net charge for the service and interest costs as well as investment returmns on scheme assets

Any requirements for provisions related to redundancy, rationalisation and other related costs are assessed on a regular
basis The most difficult judgement in this regard 1s frequently whether ar not the approprate cntena have been met to
determine If a provision should actually be made (for example, the approval and announcement of formal plans giving nse
to a legal or constructive obligatton} and not the calculation of the amount to be provided Nevertheless, when amounts
are recognised as a provision these are the best estimates of expenditure required to settle relevant obligations at the
balance sheet date using the information available at that time and considenng the likelthood of an outflow of resources to
settle the obligation These estimates are based on factors such as previous expenence and third party advice, but the
timing and value of these liabilties are not certain

Following the purported termination by the Consortium of the Offtake Framework Agreement, TCP's Redcar blast furnace
and Lackenby steelmaking were mothballed dunng February 2010 Corus UK Limited has submutted the dispute with the
Consortium to arbitration and that arbitration process is ongoing, with a senes of claims and counter claims made by the
parties There has been no recognition of any outcome of these legal proceedings at 31 March 2010 There are, however,
certain balances in relation to the OFA within the 31 March 2010 balance sheet

As noted in the Environment section on pages 12 and 13, the Group also participates in the EU ETS, under which i
recewves an allocation of allowances for the emission of CO; Any surplus of rights can be sold, and any deficit purchased,
on the emission nghts market In order to reflect the economic nsk that it faces the Group chooses to recognise habilittes
In respect of its obligations to deliver emission allowances only to the extent that the allowances to be delivered exceed
those previously acquired by the Group, either by allocation from govemments or a similar body or through purchase Any
possible surplus 1s only to be recognised once 1t 1s realised in the form of an extemnal sale

The balance sheet includes financial denvatives, mainly forward currency contracts, commodity contracts, interest rate
swaps and ¢ross currency swaps, with a net far value habiity of £106m Where it 1s felt appropnate, and where the strict
cntena of IAS 39 can be met, these denvatives are subject to hedge accounting In particular this means that the
movements in fair values of those forward contracts being held against forecast transactions are recognised within equity
untll the related asset (for example, a trade recevable) or hability 1s recognised

At the date of authonsaton of these financial statements there were a number of international standards and
interpretations that, although issued, were not yet effective or applied by TSE (and in some cases had not yet been
adopted by the EU) These were IFRIC 17 ‘Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners’, I1AS 32 (Amendment) ‘Financial
Instruments Presentation — Classification of nghts issues’, IAS 39 (Amendment} ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and
Measurement', IAS 24 (Rewised) ‘Related party disclosures’, IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, IFRIC 19 ‘Extinguishing
financial lrabiities with equity instruments’, IFRIC 14 (Amendment) ‘Pre-payments of a mmmum funding requirement’,
IFRIC 18 ‘Transfers of Assets from Customers’ and 'Improvements to IFRSs (Apnl 2009), which contains amendments to
vanous existing standards The changes ansing from the adoption of these standards and tnterpretations in future pernods
are not expected to have a matenal impact on the financial statements of the Group Further, IFRS 3 (Revised) '‘Business
Combinations’ and IAS 27 (Revised) ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ will both have to be applied
prospectively to transactions occurnng after the 1 Apnl 2010 although 1t 1s not possible to assess In advance their impact
on the financial statements of the Group
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Details of the main accounting policies used by the parent Company appear on page 71 The financial statements to 31
March 2010 of the parent Company have been prepared in accordance with UK GAAP

Dividends
The directors do not recommend that a dividend be paid and no dividends were paid or proposed dunng the year
(2008/09 mil)

The Board
The directors who served throughout the penod from 1 Apnl 2009 to the date of this report (unless otherwise stated) were
as follows

A Robb (Chairman})

K Adams*

K Chattenee

| Hussamn

B Muthuraman

F Royle

J Schraven

K Kohler*

P Vann (resigned 9 Apnl 2009)

* K Adams succeeded P Vann as Chief Executive from 6 Apnl 2009, later being appointed as Managing Director and
Chief Executive of TSE with effect from 1 October 2009
** K Kohler, Chief Operating Officer of TSE, was appointed to the Board with effect from 8 February 2010

There are estabiished Board committees for audit, remuneration and pension matters TSE health, safety and
environment matters, after establishment of a Safety, Health and Environment (‘SHE') committee for the TSL Group In the
year, are now considered by the TSL Group committee, although the TSE Board continues to take an active interest n
such matters

Directors’ interests
None of the directors had a matenal interest in any contract of significance with the Company or any of its subsidiary
undertakings dunng the year

Under the Company's articles of association Tata Steel Global Holdings Pte Limited (the sole shareholder) has the nght
to appoint any person who 1s wiling to act as a director and to remove from office any director The Board of directors has
been constituted from nominated representatives of the ultmate parent company, TSL

Directors’ indemnity

The Company's articles of association provide, subject to the provisions of UK legislation, that the Company may
indemmufy any director or former director of the Company in respect of any losses or labilities he or she may incur in
connection with any proven or alleged negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the Group
{including by funding any expenditure incurred or to be incurred by him or her) The Company also obtains Directors’ and
Officers’ ability cover as part of its overall programme of insurances

Corporate governance

Day-to-day management

The day-to-day management of TSE 1s conducted through the Executive committes, which 1s chaired by the Managing
Drrector and Chief Executive of TSE, within the context of the overall strategy laid down by the TSL Group It 1s overseen
by the TSE Board The Group 1s committed to high standards of corporate govemnance for which the Board of directors 1s
accountable

TSE 1s the parent of Corus UK Limited (‘Cerus UK') and CN, both of which are wholly owned subsidianes The board of
Corus UK and the management board of CN are responsible for the day-to-day management of therr respective
businesses in accordance with the overall strategy as laid down

Internal controf
The Board of directors 1s responsible for the Group's system of internal control and reviewing its effectiveness

There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the penod under review that have
matenally affected, or are reasonably hikely to matenally affect, internal control over financial reporting

The Group's system of internal contral has been designed in order to provide the directors with reasonable assurance that
its assets are safeguarded, that transactions are authonsed and properly recorded and that matenal errors and
iregulanties are either prevented or would be detected within a tmely penod However, no system of nternal control can
elimmate the nsk of failure to achieve business objectives or provide absolute assurance aganst matenal misstatement or
loss
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Directors’ report: business review

Whilst not mandatory for TSE, the Group’s nsk management process was developed to accord with the guidance
contained in the decument ‘Internal Control Guidance for Directars on the Combined Code’ as 1ssued by the ICAEW and
the Turnbull guidance as incorporated into the Combined Code, as explained in the Principal nsks and uncertainties
section above Key elements of the control system in operation are descnbed in that section, in addition to which
o the Board meets regularly with a formal schedule of matters reserved to them for decision and has put in place
an organisationat structure with lines of responsibility defined and with appropnate delegation of authonty,
e there are established procedures for planning, approval and monitenng of capital expenditure and information
systems for monitoring the Group's financial performance against approved budgets and forecasts,
the Board receives reports on health and safety 1ssues and environmental audits camed out across the Group,
the Pensions committee receives reports on pension i1ssues and considers the framework necessary to manage
pension nsks, and
+ the Board receives regular reports from all committees

Corporate responsibility

The TSL Group has a vision to become the world steel benchmark for value creation and corporate citizenship, with the
support of a motivated and committed workforce who share among their core values a sense of responsibility, integnty
and respect This vision franstates into a number of ambitious goals for the Group, which are summansed in other
sections of this report and explained in detail in the 2008/09 Corporate Citizenship Report for the TSL Group referred toin
the Environment section on page 13 Work is underway on a TSL Group Corporate Citizenship Report for 2009/10, which
Is expected to be published in September 2010

Community involvement

The Company recognises Its responsibllities to the communities in which it operates Many of its businesses have strong
links to their neighbounng towns and surrounding regions, and dunng the year Group chartable donations in the UK
amounted to approximately £170,000 Support 1s given for cultural, social, educational and sporting activities that
contnbute to the well being of residents, both in the immediate vicinity of plants and elsewhere For example, the third
annual Corus Kids of Steel senes took place in September 2009, introducing school children around the UK to the sport of
tnathlon [n the Netherlands, support 1s also given to the surrounding communities through a number of sponsorships in
the areas of art, culture, sport and recreation

Donaticns have been made across a range of local organisations, such as amateur sporting groups, local branches of
national charites, youth clubs, hospitals, voluntary orgamisations and schools More detall will be provided in the
Corporate Cihizenship Report referred to above

The Company does not make any donatons to political parties and none were made during the year However, the
shareholder granted authonty to TSE to make political donations to EU Poltical Crgamisatons and incur EU Political
Expenditure, pursuant to sections 362 to 370 of the Companies Act 20086, up to a maximum of £65,000 Accordingly, it 1s
reported that the Group incurred such expenditure amounting to approximately £38,641 in connection with employees
being allowed time off with pay for atitending to trade union business and carrying out civic duties

The granting of this authority was intended fo ensure that noermal expenditure which, as a result of the wide definthions
under the Act, could be construed as poliical expenditure or a donation to a poltical organisation was authonsed provided
that such expenditure was disclosed in the Report & Accounts

Suppliers

It 1s the policy of the Company and its subsidianes to establish payment terms with suppliers when agreeing the terms of
business transactons The aim i1s to dispatch cheques on the due date or, where other means of payment are adopted, fo
dehver funds to suppliers as If payment had been made by cheque

The Company had nil days purchases outstanding at 31 March 2010 (2008/09 nil), based on the average daily amount
invoiced by suppliers dunng the year

Statement as to disclosure of information to auditors

Each director in office at the date of this Directors’ repert confirms that

(a) so far as the director 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware,
and

(b) the director has taken all the relevant steps that he or she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself or
herself aware of any relevant audif information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information

Ttus confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies
Act 2006

Auditors

Deloitte LLP have indicated their willingness to be reappointed as auditors to the Company for another term and
appropnate arrangements are being made for them to be deemed reappointed as auditors in the absence of an AGM
Deloitte Haskins & Sells in India are the auditors of the ullimate parent company, TSL
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Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are
set out in thus Directors’ report business review The financial resources avallable to the Group are discussed in detail in
the Financial review section on pages 9 to 11 The forward nsks faced by the Group are also discussed in the section on
Principal nsks and uncertainties on pages 15 to 17, and financial nsk management 1s discussed in Note 21 on pages 51 to
55, including hquidity nsk

The directors have assessed the future funding requirements of the Group and the Company, and have compared them to
the level of avallable borrowing faciliies, including support from the uttimate parent, TSL The assessment included a
review of current financial projections for eighteen months from the balance sheet date Recogrising the considerable
uncertainty surrounding financtal projections in the current economic environment, the directors considered a number of
scenanos and the mitigating actions the Group could take to mit any adverse consequences In particular, the directors
considered the impact of a delay in the anticipated recovery, of an inability to recover significant increases in raw matenal
costs in steel selling prices, the working capital requirements of such increases, and of volatiity in exchange rates

Hawing undertaken this work, the directors are of the opinion that the Group has access to adequate resources to fund its
operations for the foreseeable future and so determine that it 1s appropnate fer the financial statements to be prepared on
a going concern bhasis

LL/Q@MU(

By order of the Board
Allison Scandrett
Secretary

23 June 2010

30 Millbank

London

SW1P 4WY

United Kingdom
Registered No 05957565
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for prepaning the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each
financial year Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements 1n accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Unton Under company law
the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satsfied that they give a true and farr
view of the state of affars of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period In preparing
these financial statements, Interational Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors

. properly select and apply accounting policies,

. present information, including accounting policies, In a manner that provides relevant, rehable,
comparable and understandable mformation,

. provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are

insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactons, other events and
conditions on the entity's financial position and financial performance, and
. make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern

The directors are respensible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other srregularties

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information

included on the company's website Legislaton in the Umted Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurnisdictions
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tata Steel
Europe Limited

We have audited the Group consolidated financial statements of Tata Steel Europe Limited for the year ended
31 March 2010 which comprise the Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, Consolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated statement of changes in equity, the
Consolidated statement of cash flows, the Presentation of accounts and accounting policies and the related
notes 1 to 37 The financial reporting framework that has been apphed in their preparation 1s applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

This report 1s made solely to the company's members, as a body, In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006 Our audif work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company’'s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opintons we
have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explaned more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the Group consolidated financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view Our responsibility 1s to audit the group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board's (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error  This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to
the group’s ¢ircumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness
of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial
statements

Opinion on financial statements

In our opimion the Group consolidated financial statements
« gwve a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affarrs as at 31 March 2010 and of its loss for the
year then ended,
« have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and
*  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financia! year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the Group consolidated financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you of, in our opinion

s certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

¢ we have not received ali the mformation and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Tata Steel Europe Limited for the
year ended 31 March 2010

Andrew Kelly (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London, United Kingdom

23 June 2010

Tata Steel Europe Lumited Report and Accounts 2010 23




Consolidated income statement

2010

For ihe financial pencd ended 31 March Note £m £m
Group revenue 8,057 12,297
Total operating costs 1 (8,922) (12,448)
Group operating loss (865} (151)
Finance costs 4 (248) (291)
Finance income 4 16 18
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates 10 11 17
Loss before taxation (1,086} (407)
Taxation 5 157 77
Loss after taxation from continuing operations (929) (330)
Loss after taxation from discontinued operations 6 - (136)
Loss after taxation (929) {466)
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (929) (465)
Minonty interests - (1)
(929) (466)

As required by IFRS 5 'Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’, TSE's primary
aluminium smelting businesses were classified as discontinued operations in the comparative period The
disposal of these businesses 1o Klesch was completed on 3 February 2009, with turnover, group operating
loss and loss before taxation for the 2009 penod then excluding the results of these businesses, which were
shown as a single net amount in the consolidated income staternent below loss after taxation from continuing

operations

Notes and related statements forming part of these accounts appear on pages 29 to 67
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

2010

2009

For the finanaal period ended 31 March Note £m £m
Loss after taxation (929} (466}
Other comprehensive iIncome
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension and other post-retirement

plans 32 (482) (777)
Cash flow hedges

Net movement on fair values of cash flow hedges dunng the year (88) 224

Reclassification adjustments for cash flow hedge reserves on

disposals - 97)

Revaluation of available for sale investments 1 (2) 7
Exchange movements on currency net investments

Movements ansing dunng the year 22 55

Reclassification adjustments on reduction of currency net

investments - (11)

Other comprehensive iIncome {550) (599)
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive iIncome 5 15 83
Reclassification adjustments In refation to deferred tax on cash flow

hedge reserves on disposals - 27
Other comprehensive income for the period (535} {489)
Total comprehensive income for the period {1,464) {955)
Attnbutable to
Qwners of the Company {1,464) {9585}

Notes and related statements forming part of these accounts appear on pages 28 to 67
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Consolidated balance sheet

2009

As at 31 March Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 7 519 518
Other intangible assets 8 119 125
Property, plant and equipment 9 3,943 4,438
Equity accounted investments 10 111 114
Other investments 11 61 66
Other non-current assets 12 16 22
Retirement benefit assets 32 260 756
Deferred tax assets 23 190 164
5,219 6,203
Current assets
Inventories 13 1,875 2,089
Trade and other receivables 15 1,474 1,776
Current tax assets 14 11 20
Short term investments 16 2 10
Cash and short term deposits 16 311 392
3,673 4,287
TOTAL ASSETS 8,892 10,490
Current liabilities
Borrowings 18 (732) (551)
Trade and other payables 17 {1,941) (1,932)
Current tax llabilities 14 (88) {113)
Retrement benefit obligations a2 {2) {2)
Short term provisions and other habiities 22 (177) {144)
{2,940} {2,742)
Non-current Lhabhilities
Borrowings 18 {3,462) (3,552)
Deferred tax iabilities 23 (277) (437)
Retirement benefit obligations 32 (114) (139)
Provisions and other habilhities 22 (209) (208)
Other non-current habilities 19 {148) (208)
Deferred income 24 {66) (66)
{4,276) (4,608)
TOTAL LIABILITIES {7,216) (7,350)
NET ASSETS 1,676 3.140
Equity
Called up share capital 25 3,515 3,515
Retaned earnings (2,061) {663)
Other components of equity 221 287
Equity attnbutable to owners of the Company 1,675 3,139
Mincrity interests 1 1
TOTAL EQUITY 1,676 3,140

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

F P Royle
23 Jurne 2010

Notes and related statements forming part of these accounts appear on pages 29 to 67
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Investment

Share Retained Hedging Translation revaluation Minority Total
capital eamings reserve reserves reserves Total interest equity
£m Em Em £m £m £m £m £m
Balance as at 1 Apnl 2008 3,514 466 (71) 181 2 4,092 3 4,095
New shares Issued 1 - - - - 1 - 1
Total comprehensive
income for the period - {1,130} 117 51 7 {955) - (955)
Acqusition of minority
shareholding - - - - - - {2) {2)
Issue of conditional
share awards - 1 - ~ - 1 - 1
Balance as at 31 March 2009 3,515 {663) 46 232 9 3,139 1 3,140
Total comprehensive
income for the penod - (1,398) (84) 20 (2) (1,464) - (1,464)
Balance as at 31 March 2010 3,515 (2,061) (38) 252 7 1,675 1 1,676

Notes and related statements forming part of these accounts appear on pages 29 to 67
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

2010 2009
Fox the financtal period ended 31 March Nota £m £m
Operating activities
Cash generated from operations 29 175 983
Interest paid (181) (281)
Covenant reset and waiver fees (27) -
Interest element of finance lease rental payments (8) (9
UK corperation tax received 1 1
Taxation paid {19) (40}
Net cash flow from operating activities {49) 654
Investing activitites
Purchase of property, plant and equiprment (228) (375)
Development grants received 5 7
Sale of property, plant and equipment 16 17
Purchase of other intangible assets (23) (38)
Salel(purchase) of other fixed asset investments 4 {5)
Loans to joint ventures and associates (1) (3)
Repayment of foans from joint ventures and associates 2 2
Investments in joint ventures and associates - (1)
Sale of investment in joint ventures and associates 7 9
Sale of businesses and subsidiary undertakings {19) (3)
Purchase of minonty interests 1n subsidiary undertakings 33 (2) (4)
Dwidends from joint ventures and associates 4 18
Interest received 25 18
Net cash flow from investing activibies {210) {358)
Financing activities
New loans 663 4561
Repayment of borrowings {470) (731}
Capital element of finance lease rental payment {18} {20)
Net cash flow from financing activities 175 {290)
(Decrease)fincrease in cash and cash equivalents 31 {84) 6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 3 381 344
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 31 (6) 31
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 31 291 381
Cash and cash equivalents consist of
Cash and short term deposiis 16 31 392
Bank overdrafts 18 {20) (11)
291 381

The 2009 comparative amounts above relate fo total operations, of which discontinued operations had cash
outflows from operating actwities of £30m, cash outflow from nvesting actwties of £21m and cash inflow from

financing activities of £26m

Notes and related statements forming part of these accounts appear on pages 29 to 67
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Presentation of aceounts and accounting poliaes

Presentation of accounts and accounting policies

| Basis of preparation

Tata Steel Europe Limited (TSE) 1s a private lmited company incorporated m the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act 2006 The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2010 compnse the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’) and the Group’s interest
In its joint venture and associated undertakings The functional and presentational currency of the Company,
and the presentational currency of the Group, is stering The Group has prepared its Report & Accounts in
accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, interpretations
1ssued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretatitons Committee (IFRIC) and in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS IFRS as adopted by the
EU differs in certan respects from IFRS as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
However, the consolidated financial statements for the periods presented would be no different had the Group
appled IFRS as 1ssued by the IASB References to IFRS hereafter should be construed as references to IFRS
as adopted by the EU The accounts have also been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified
by the revaluation of available for sale investments

The Group has prepared consolidated financral statements under the IFRS accounting policies set out below
and these polictes have been applied consistently to all the periods presented except for the following

Standards affecting presentation and disclosure
= IAS 1 (revised 2007) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ which infroduces 2 number of changes in
the format and content of the financial statements
+ ‘Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments {Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments
Disclosures) which expands the disclosures in respect of fair value measurements and liquidity risk,
although In accordance with the transitonal provisions TSE has elected not to provide comparative
information for these expanded disclosures in the current year

Standards affecting the reported results and financial position
+ IAS 23 (revised 2007) Borrowing Costs’ which eliminates the option previously taken by TSE to
immediately expense all borrewing costs when incurred In accordance wath the transitional
provisions, from 1 April 2009 TSE has now capitalised borrowing costs incurred on qualifying assets,
although the impact on net assets at 31 March 2010 1s only £36k

Standards not affecting the reported results nor the financial position
The following new and revised standards and interpretations have been applied n the current year, however
the adoption of these new requirements has had no effect on either the current or prior penods

¢ ‘Improvements to IFRSs {2008},

+ IAS 32 (Amendment) ‘Financial Instruments Presentation’ and IAS 1 (Amendment) 'Presentation of
Financia! Statements’ - Puttable financial instruments and obligations arnising on liquidation,

*+ Amendments to IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Denvatives’ and 1AS 39 ‘Financial

Instruments Recogmition and Measurement’,

Amendments to IFRS 2 'Share-based payments’

IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’,

IFRIC 15 ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’, and

IFRIC 16 ‘Hedges of a net investment in a Foreign Operation’

* * & ®

Standards and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group are
discussed on page 18 of the Directors’ report

As set out in the Directors’ report business review, the Board of directors have assessed the ability of the
Group to continue as a going concern and these financiat statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis

Il Use of estimates and critical accounting judgements
The preparation of accounts tn accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the

(1) reported amounts of assets and habilities,

(1) disclosure of contingent assets and liabihties at the date of the accounts, and

() reported amounts of iIncome and expenses during the period

Actual results could differ from those estimates The most significant techmiques for estimation are described
in the accounting policies below Cnitrcal accounting judgements and the key sources of estimatron or
uncertainty 1n applying the Group’s accounting policies anse i relation to property, plant and equipment,
goodwill, current asset prowvisions, deferred tax, refirement benefits, provisions created for redundancy,
rationalisation and related costs, emission nghts and financial denvatives, as discussed in the Directors’
report business review — Accounting policies on pages 17 to 19 The detalled accounting policies, including
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underlying judgements and methods of estmations for each of these items, are discussed below All of these
key factors are considered at least annually

Il Basis of consolidation

The consolidated income statement, statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, statement of
changes In equity and statement of cash flows include the Company and its subsidianes They also include
the Group’s share of the profits, net assetls and retained post acquisition reserves of joint ventures and
associates that are consolidated using the equity method of consolidation The profits or losses of
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates acquired or sold during the penod are included from the date of
acquisition or up to the date of their disposal All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised profits on such transactions

IV Business combinations

On the acquisition of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate, farr values are attributed to the net assets
acquired Any excess of the farr value of consideration given over the fair values of the Group's share of the
dentifiable net assets acquired, less the costs directly attributable to the combination, 15 treated as goodwill If
the fair value of the net assets acquired exceeds the far value of consideration then these farr values are
reassessed before taking the remainder as a credit to profit and loss in the period of acquisition

Goodwill 1s recognised as an asset, although it 1s not amortised, it 1s reviewed for Impairment annually and
whenever there s a possible indicator Any impairment 1s recognised immediately in profit and loss and cannot
subsequently be reversed Cn disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or assocliate any residual amount of
goodwill 1s included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal

Subsequent acquisitions where the Group does not oniginally hold a 100% interest in a subsidiary are treated
as an acquisition of shares from minenity shareholders The identifiable net assets are not subject to further
farr value adjustments and the difference between the cost of acquisition of the minonty Interest and the net
book value of the additional proportion of the company acquired Is treated as goodwill

V Revenue

Revenue from the sale of goods is recogmised when the significant nisks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, which 1s when they have accepted physical delivery and control of the goods No
revenue 1s recognised If there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the amount due, associated
costs or the possible return of goods

Revenue is measured at the farr value of the consideration received or recevable and represents amounts
due for goods and services provided 1n the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales
related taxes

VI Provisions

Provisions for rattonalisation and related measures, environmental remediation and tegal clams are
recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it 1s more
likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obkgation, and the amount can be
reliably estimated This involves a series of management judgements and estimates that are based on past
experence of similar events and third party advice where applicable Where appropriale and relevant those
provisions are discounted to take into consideration the time value of money

in parbicular, redundancy provisions are made where the plans are sufficiently detailed and well advanced, and
where appropriate communication to those afiected has been made at the end of the reporting period These
provisions also include charges for any termination costs ansing from enhancement of retirement or other
post-employment benefits for those employees affected by these plans

Provisions are also created for long term employee benefits that depend on the length of service, such as long
service and sabbatical awards, disability benefils and long term compensated absences such as sick leave
The amount recognised as a liability 1s the present value of benefit obligations at the end of the reporting
penod, and all movements in the provision (including actuanal gains and losses or past sevice costs) are
recogmsed immediately within profit and loss

TSE participates in the EU Emissions Trading Scheme, initially measuring any rights recewved or purchased at
cost, and recognises a provision In relation to carbon dioxide quotas If there 1s any anticipated shortfall in the
level of quotas received or purchased when compared with actual emissions m a given period Any surplus IS
only recogrnised once it 1s realised in the form of an external sale

Vil Government grants

Grants related to expenditure on property, plant and equipment are credited to profit and loss over the useful
Iives of qualifying assets Total grants received less the amounts credited to profit and loss at the end of the
reporting period are included in the balance sheet as deferred income
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VIl Insurance

Certain of the Group's insurances are handled by its captive insurance company, Crucible Insurance
Company Limited Crucible accounts for all insurance business on an annual basis and the net consolidated
result 1s dealt with as part of the operating costs in these accounts Insurance premiums i respect of
insurance placed with third parties and reinsurance premiumns in respect of nsks not retaned by the Group's
captive isurance company are charged to profit and loss in the peniod to which they relate

IX Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contrnibution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due
Payments made to state managed retrement benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined
contnbution schemes where the Group's obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in a
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme

For defined benefit retirement schemes the cost of providing benefits s determined using the Projected Unit
Credit Method, with actuanal valuations being carned out at each reporting penod end The Group applies the
option available under IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ to recogmise all actuanal gains and losses directly within
retained earnings, presenting those ansing In any one reporting period as part of the relevant statement of
comprehensive income In applying I1AS 19, in relation to retirement benefits costs, the current service cost,
interest cost and expected retumn on plan assets have been treated as a net expense within employment
costs

Past service cost 1s recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise 1s
amortised on a straight-line basis over the average penod unti! the benefits become vested

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined
benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by the fair value of scheme
assels Any asset resulting from this calculation 1s lirmited to unrecognised past service cost, pius the present
value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan

X Financing items
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the pnncipal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable

Interest expense, excluding thai related to financing the construction of qualifying property, plant and
equipment from 1 Aprl 2009, 15 expensed as incurred Discounts or premiums and expenses on the 1ssue of
debt securities are amortised over the term of the related secunty and included within interest expense
Unamortised amounts are shown in the balance sheet as part of the outstanding balance of the related
securty Premiums payable on early redemptions of debt secunties, in hieu of future interest costs, are written
off as interest expense when paid

Xl Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax

The tax currently payable 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported In the income statement because i excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible

Deferred tax 1s the tax expected fo be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amourts of
assets and hiabiibes n the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit, and 15 accounted for using the balance sheet hability method Deferred tax habilites are
generally recogrused for all taxable temporary differences In contrast, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxabte profits will be avalable aganst which the temporary
differences can be utiised Liabilities are not recogmised for taxable femporary differences arising on
nvestments in subsidianies, joint ventures and associates where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future

Both current and deferred tax items are calculated using the tax rates that are expected to apply in the peried
when the hability 15 settled or the asset 1s realised This means using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting penod Deferred tax 1s charged or credited 1n the income
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax
1s also dealt with 0 equity

Deferred tax assets and habilites are offset to the extent that they relate to taxes levied by the same tax
authorty and they are in the same taxable entity, or a group of taxable entites where the tax losses of one
entity are used lo offset the taxable profits of another and there are legally enforceable nghts to set off current
tax assets and current tax habilities within that junsdiction
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XIl Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and habilities in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the quoted rates of exchange
ruling at the end of each reporting pencd Income staterment items and cash flows are translated into sterling
at the average rates for the financral penod In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange
transaction risks, the Group enters into forward contracts and options {see Xlil below for details of the Group's
accounting polictes in respect of such denvative financial instruments}

Exchange differences on the retranslation of the opeming net investment in foreign enterprnses and the
retranslation of profit and loss items from average to closing rate are recorded as movements on reserves
Such cumulative exchange differences are transferred to profit and loss on subsequent disposals of the
foreign enterprnise and for other substantial reductions in capital in these enterprises during the pertod Under
IAS 21, cumulative translation differences on the consolidation of subsidianies are only baing accumulated for
each individual subsidiary from the date of acquisition, being 2 April 2007 for Corus and its subsidiaries

Goodwill and far value adjustments arnising on the acquisitton of a foreign enlity are treated as assets and
habilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate

Xl Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial habihties are recognmised on the Group's balance sheet when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument The detailed accounting treatment for such
items can differ, as described in the following sections

(a) Trade recervables

Trade receivables are wnthially recorded at their fair value and are subsequently measured at their amortised
cost, as reduced by appropnate allowances for any imparrment Provisions for impairment are made where
there 1s a nsk of non-payment, taking into account ageing, previous experence and general economic
conditions When a trade receivable 1s determined to be uncollectable 1t 1s written off, firstly agasnst any
provision available and then to the income statement Subseguent recovenies of amcounts previously provided
for are credited to the income statement

{b) Other investments

Other nvestments include long term financral assets that are intially measured at far value, including
transaction expenses They are classified as either avalable for sale or as loans and recewvables For
avatlable for sale investments, gains and losses ansing from changes n fair values are recognised directly in
equity unbl the secunty 15 disposed of or 1s determined to be impaired, at which fime the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in equity 1s included n the net profit or loss for the period Loans and receivables
are non-derwvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market Following imtial recognihion they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method

{c) Financral habiities and equity related instruments
Fmancial llabilites and equity related instruments are classified according to the terms of the indwidual
cantractual arrangements

(d) Bank borrowings

Interest-bearning bank loans, overdrafis and 1ssued debt are nitially recorded at therr fair value which 1s
generally the proceeds received, net of direct 1ssue costs These borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost

(e) Trade payables
Trade payables are intially recorded at far value and are subsequently measured at their amortised cost

(f) Equrty instruments
Equity instruments 1ssued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 1ssue costs

(g) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

In the ordinary course of business the Group uses certain derivative financial instruments to reduce business
nsks which arise from its exposure to foreign exchange, base metal prices and interest rate fluctuations The
instruments are confined principally to forward foreign exchange contracts, forward rate agreements, cross
currency swaps, interest rate swaps and London Metal Exchange (LME) contracts The instruments are
employed as economic hedges of transachions included in the accounts or forecast for firm contractual
commitments Contracis do not generally extend beyond 6 months, except for certain cross currency swaps
and inferest rate swaps

Denvatives are imitially accounted for and measured at fair value from the date the dernivative contract is taken
out Following this, at each subsequent reporting penod end the derivative 1s remeasured at its current far
value For forward currency contracts, interest rate swaps and commodity contracts the farr values are
determined based on market forward rates at the end of the reporting period The Group seeks to adopt hedge
accounting for these currency, interest rate and commodity contracts This means that, at the inception of
each hedge there 1s a formal, documented designation of the hedging relationship This documentation
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mcludes, inter alia, items such as wdentification of the hedged item or transaction and the nature of the nsk
being hedged At inception each hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving an offset of changes In
farr value or cash flows atinbutable to the hedged nsk The methodology of testing the effectiveness and the
rehability of this approach for testing 1s also considered and documented at inception This effectiveness Is
assessed on an ongoing basis throughout the life cycle of the hedging relationship In particular, only forecast
transactions that are highly probable are subject to cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of denvative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of
future cash flows are recognised directly in equity and the neffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit and loss If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or forecasted transachon results in the recognition
of a non-financial asset or hability, then, at the time the asset or kability is recognised, the associated gans or
losses on the denvative that had previously been recognised in equity are included in the jtial measurement
of the asset or habiity For hedges that do not result in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a liability,
amounts deferred in equity are recognised 1n prefit and loss in the same penod in which the hedged item
affects profit and loss

For an effective hedge of an exposure to changes in far value, the hedged item s adjusted for changes
attributable to the nsk being hedged with the correspending entry in profit and loss Gains or losses from
remeasunng the associated denvative are also recognised n profit and loss

Changes in the farr value of denvative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
recognised In profit and loss as they arise

Hedge accounting ts dscontinued when the hedging instrument expires or I1s sold, terminated, exercised, or no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting At that tme, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument
recogrised in equity 15 retained in equity until the forecasted transaction oceurs If a hedged transaction 1s no
longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gan or loss recognised in equity is reclassified to net profit or
loss for the period

Certain components, such as terms and conditions, embedded n other financial instruments or other host
confracts are accounted for as separate dervatives and carried at fair value These components are only
separately accounted for when therr nsks and charactenstics are not closely related to those of the host
contract, the host contract itself 1s not carned at fair value with gains or losses reported in profit and loss, and
where a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded component would tself meet the definition
of a derivative

XIV Other intangible assets

Patents, trademarks and software are included in the balance sheet as intangible assets where they are
clearly inked to long term economic benefits for the Group In this case they are measured initially at fair value
on acquisition or purchase cost and then amorhised on a straight-line basis over their estmated useful lives Al
other costs on patents, trademarks and software are expensed in profit and foss as incurred

Expenditure on research activities 1s recognised as an expense In the penod in which it 1s incurred Costs
incurred on tndividual development projects are recognised as Intangible assets from the date that all of the
following conditions are met
{) completion of the development is technically feasible,
{n}y tis the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it,
{m) 1tis clear that the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits,
{iv) adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are avalable, and
(v) 1t 1s possible to reliably measure the expenditure atinbutable to the intangble asset during its
development

Recognition of costs as an asset I1s stopped when the project 1s complete and available for its intended use, or
if these critena no longer apply The approach to amortsation and impairment of other intangible assets s
described in XVI below

Where development activitles do not meet the conditions for recognition as an asset, any associated
expenditure I1s treated as an expense in the period in which it 1$ incurred

The Group also recogrised certain other separately identifiable assets, including contractual relationshups, at
farr value on acquisition These are then amortised on a straight-line basis over the duration of the respective
contracts

XV Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 1s recorded at fair value on acquisition less accumulated depreciation and any
recognised impairment loss Cost includes professional fees, and, for assets constructed by the Group, any
related works to the extent that these are direcily attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset
From 1 Apnl 2009 this includes borrowing costs capitalised in respect of qualifying assets in accordance with
the Group’s policy Amounts incurred in connection with capital projects that are not drectly attributable to
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bnnging the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating In the manner
intended (which the Group refers to as ‘commissioming costs’ and which include expenses such as inihal
operating losses Incurred while technical deficiencies on new plant are rectified and incremental operating
costs that are incurred while the new plant 1s operating at less than full capacity) are wntten off fo profit and
loss as incurred Assets In the course of construction are depreciated from the date on which they are ready
for their intended use

The gain or loss arising on disposal of an asset 1s determined as the difference between the sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, and 1s recognised in profit and loss

Included in property, plant and equipment are loose plant and tools which are stated at cost less amounts
written off related to theirr expected useful lives and estimated scrap value and also spares, agamst which
impairment provisions are made where necessary to cover slow moving and obsolete items

Subsequent costs are included In the carrying value of an asset when it 1s probable that additional future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably All other repairs
and renewals are charged to profit and loss as incurred

XVI Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of property, plant and

equipment and other intangible assets

Depreciation or amortisation 1s provided so as to write off, on a straight-line basis, the cost of property, plant
and equipment and other mtangible assets, including those held under finance leases, to their residual value
These charges are commenced from the dates the assets are available for therr intended use and are spread
over therr estimated useful econontic lives or, in the case of leased assets, over the lease penod if shorter
The estimated useful lives of assets and residual values are reviewed regularly and, when necessary, revised
Accelerated deprectation or amortisation 1s provided where an asset 1s expected to become obsolete before
the end of its normal useful lIife or If events or changes in circumstances indicate that an iImparrment loss
needs to be recognised, as discussed below No further charges are provided in respect of assets that are
fully wrnitten down but are stifl in use

The estimated useful ives for the main categones of property, plant and equipment and other intangible
assets are

Freehold and long leasehold buildings that house plant and other works buildings 25 years
Other freehold and long leasehold bulldings 50 years
Plant and machinery
Iron and steelmaking maximum 25 years
IT hardware and software maximum 8 years
Office equipment and furniture 10 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
Other maximum 15 years
Patents and trademarks 4 years
Praduct and process development costs 5 years

At each reporting period end, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
other intangible asseis to determine whether there 1s any indication that the carrying amount of those assets
may not be recoverable through continuing use If any such mdication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset 15 reviewed 10 order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (f any) Where the asset does not
generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs Cther intangble assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment annually and whenever there 1s an indication that the asset may be impaired

Recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to therr present value using a pre-tax discount rate, based
upon the Group's long term weighted average cost of capital with approprnate adjustments for the nsks
associated with the relevant units If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) 1s estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) 1s reduced to its
recoverable amount An tmpairment l0ss 1s recognised as an expense immediately

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrymg amount of the asset (or cash generating unit} 1s
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no imparrment loss been recogrused for
the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years A reversal of an impairment loss i1s recognised as income
immediately
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XVIl Leases

The Group determunes whether an arrangement contains a fease by assessing whether the fulfilment of a
transaction 1s dependent on the use of a specific asset and whether the transaction conveys the right to use
that asset to TSE in return for payment Where this occurs, the arrangement 1s deemed fo include a lease and
1s accounted for as such

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at therr fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease The
corresponding lability to the lessor 1s included in the balance sheet as a finance lease abligation Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease oblgation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the hability Finance charges are charged directly against
income over the penod of the lease

XVl Joint ventures and associates
The results and assets and lLiabilities of joint ventures and associates are incorporated in the accounts using
the equity method of accounting, except where classified as held for sale (see XIX}

Investments in joint ventures and associates are nitially measured at cost Any excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's share of the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired, being goodwill, 15
included within the carrying value of the joint venture or associate and 1s subsequently tested for impairment
on an annual basis Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the Group’s share of the fair values of the
identifiable net assets acquired 1s credited to profit or loss in the penod of acquission The Group's share of
post acquisthon profits and losses 1s recognised in profit and loss, and its share of post acquisition movement
In reserves are recognised directly in reserves Losses of associates in excess of the Group’s interest in those
assocrates are not recognised, unless the Group has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate

Urnrealised gains on transactions with joint ventures or associates are ehminated and, where matenal, the
resulls of joint ventures and associates are modified to conform to the Group’s policies

XIX Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of therr carrying
amount and farr value less costs to sell Assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if thewr
carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use This
condiion 1s only met when the sale 1s highly probable and the asset, or disposal groups, Is available for
immediate sale in its present condition and 1s marketed for sale at a pnce that 1s reasonable in relation to its
current fair value The Group must alsc be commitied to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification

Where a disposal group represents a separate major hine of business or geographical area of operations, or 1s
part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operahions, then it 1s treated as a discontinued operation The post-tax profit or loss of this discontinued
operation together with the gan or loss recognised on its disposal are disclosed as a single amount on the
face of the iIncome statement, with all pnior pencds being presented on this basis

XX Inventories

Inventones of raw matenals are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost 1s determined using
the ‘first n, first out’ method Inventones of partly processed matenals, finished products and stores are
individually valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost compnises direct matenals and, where
applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bninging the inventones to therr
present location and condition Net realisable value 1s the price at which the inventonies can be realised in the
normal course of business after allowing for the cost of conversion from their existing state to a finished
condition and for the cost of marketing, selling and distnbution Provisions are made to cover slow moving and
obsolete items based on historical experience of utilisation on a product category basis, which involves
indmvidual businesses considening their local product ines and market conditions

XX| Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly
lgquid investments with original matunties of three months or less, and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet
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1. Operating costs

Notes to the consolidated accounts

2010 2009
£m £m
Costs by type
Raw matenals and consumables 4,240 6,795
Maintenance costs (excluding own labour) 647 817
Other external charges (including fuels and utiities, hire charges and carriage costs) 1,309 1,726
Employment costs (Note 3) 1,813 1,910
Depreciation, amorhisation and impairments 549 843
Regional development and other grants released (5) (7)
Other operating ttems {including rents, rates, insurance and general expenses) 419 66
Changes in inventory of finished goods and work In progress (25) 323
Own work caprtalised {34} (34)
Profit on disposal of Group company (14} -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 23 9
8,922 12,448
Operating items
before
restructuring  Restructuring,
impairment and impairment
disposals  and disposals Total
£m E£m £m
The above costs In the year to 31 March 2010 include
Raw materals and consumables 4,240 - 4,240
Maintenance costs (excluding own labour) 647 - 647
Other external charges (Including fuels and utiities, hire charges and carnage costs) 1,309 - 1,309
Employment costs (Note 3) 1,725 88 1,813
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 551 (2) 549
Regional development and other grants released (5) - (5)
Other operating items (including rents, rates, insurance and general expenses) 337 82 419
Changes in inventory of fimished goods and work in progress (25) - {25}
Own wark capitalised (34) - (34}
Profit on disposal of Group company - (14) {14}
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 23 23
8,745 177 8,922
Further analysis of restructuning and impairment costs is presented in Note 2
2010 2009
£m £m
The above costs are stated after including
Amortisation of other intangible assets 28 63
Impairment losses related to intangible assets (Note 2) - 139
Depreciation of owned assets 508 513
Net imparment losses related to owned assets {Note 2) (2) 110
Depreciation of assets held under finance leases 15 18
Operating leases
Plant and machinery 47 60
Leasehold property 37 39
Costs of research and development (gross) 88 a7
Recovenes on research and development {14) (17)
Impairments against trade recewvables {Note 15(11)) 10 12
Sale of emission nghts (14) (135)
Early closure of foreign currency contracts - (170)

The operating cosls in the year to 31 March 2009 included an exceptional level of net realisable value provisions
made In relation to the Group's inventory, with these provisions amounting to £293m as at 31 March 2009
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1. Operating costs continued

Services provided by the Group’s auditor and its associates — total operations

2%10 205?9
m m
Fees payable to TSE's auditors for the audit of the parent company and
consolidated financial statements of the Group 1 9
Statutory audit fees payable to associate members of the Group auditors 1 1
Total audit fees 2 2
Other fees in respect of services required by legisiation - 1
Tax services 1 -
Fees for other services - 1
Total non-audit fees 1 2
3 4
2. Restructuring and impairment costs
2010 2009
£m £m
Provision for restructunng and related measures
Redundancy and related costs 116 92
Impairment losses related to property, plant and equipment 6 110
Impairment losses related to intangible assets - 139
Other asset wnte downs - 33
Other rationalisation costs 98 74
220 448
Credits for restructuring and related measures
Redundancy and related costs (28) -
Impairment credits related to property, plant and equipment (8) -
Other asset write downs (2) -
Other rationalisation costs {14) -
{52) -
168 448

Followtng the actions of the Consortium in thewr withdrawal from the Offtake Framework Agreement, TSE
announced in December 2009 the intention to implement the May 2009 proposal to mothball the steelmaking
faciities of its TCP business As a result, TCP's Redcar Blast Furnace and Lackenby steelmaking were mothballed
duning February 2010 The costs above include £115m in relation 1o the redundancy and other rationalisation costs
(with the latter including the expected costs associated with the cancellation or settlement of certain contracts at
this site) associated with this mothballing The credits in the year result from the reassessment of provisions within
certain businesses in light of therr revised restructunng ptans and expenence of the associated costs of
redundancies within the specific programmes

3. Employees

2110 2009

m £m

The total employment costs of all employees (Including directors) in the

Group were

Wages and salanes 1,394 1,507

Social secunty costs 161 170

Other pension costs 170 141

Redundancy and related costs (Note 2) 88 92
1,813 1,910

(1) The average number of employees dunng the year was 36,100 {2009 41,900 — including the prmary aluminivm
smelting business treated as discontinued operations in the prior year)
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3. Employees continued
(1) Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration paid to the directors of TSE for services performed in the year was

2012 2009
£

The total employment costs of the directors in the Group were

Emoluments 2,881,213 1,976,896

Amounts accruing under long-term incentive schemes 50,174 223,450

Retirement benefits are accruing to 1 director under defined benefit schemes (2009 1)

The emoluments of Mr K Chatterjee, Mr B Muthuraman and Mr | Hussain are paid by cther companies within the
Tata Steel Group which make no recharge to TSE

These Individuals are all directors of TSL and a number of fellow subsidiaries and 1t 1s not possible to make an
accurate apporlionment of their emoluments n respect of each of the subsidianes Accordingly, the above detalls
include no emoluments 1n respect of them with therr emoluments being disclosed in the financial statements of the
respective companies with whom they have therr pnmary employment contracts

(iny Highest paid director

2012 2009
£
Total amount of emoluments 2,039,140 1,241,502
There 1s no accrued lump sum falling due under a defined benefit pension scheme
4. Financing items
2010 2009
£m £m
Interest expense
Bank and other borrowings (180) (269)
Fees related to amendments and restatement of faciity agreement (27} -
Finance leases (8) {9)
Amounts payable to Group companies (33) {(13)
Finance costs {248) (291)
Interest income
Cash and short term deposits and short term investments 16 18
Finance income 18 18

(232) (273

As noted on page 10 of the Directors’ report, on 29 May 2009 the consent of the majonty of lenders under the
Group's senior banking facility was obtained to the request to amend certain terms of the facility to cover the
anticipated period of the severe downturn in TSE's markets

5. Taxation

2010 2009

£m £m

UK corporation tax - -
UK prior year credit - m
Overseas pror year credit (26) (40)

QOverseas laxes 23 19
Current tax {3) (22)
UK deferred tax (35) (5)
Overseas deferred tax {119) (50}
{157) (77}
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5. Taxation continued

The total Income statement credit for the year can be reconciled to the accounting loss as follows

2010 2009
£m £m
Loss before taxation {1,086) (407)
Loss multiplied by the applicable corporation tax rate of 26 4% (2009
25 8%) {287} (105)
Effects of
Adjustments to current tax in respect of prior periods {28} (41)
Adjustments to deferred tax in respect of prior periods - 1
Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised (5} (27)
Tax losses not recognised 144 68
Other permanent differences 17 12
{157) {in

The applicable corporation tax rate 1s the average tax rate weighted in proportion to the accounting profits earned
in each geographical area The increase In the rate 1s caused by a change in the profitability of the Group's
subsidiaries in the respective countries

In addition to the total taxation credited to the income statement, the following amounts relating to tax have been
recognised directly in other comprehensive inctome

2010 2009
£m £m
Relating to components of other comprehensive income
Actuanal losses on defined bengfit pension plans and other post-
retirement plans {11) {77)
Revaluatons of financial instruments treated as cash flow hedges 2 2
Exchange movements on currency net investments {6) (34)
{15) {83)

6. Discontinued operations

On 3 February 2009 TSE completed the sale of its pnimary aluminium smelting businesses to Klesch In
accordance with IFRS 5 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’ these businesses were
classified as discontinued operations for the year ended 31 March 2009 The results of these operations 1n 2009
are set out below, with no discontinued cperations in 2010

2008

£m
Turnover 326
Total operating costs (1) {351)
Operating loss (25)
Taxation -
Loss after taxation (25)
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (111)
Loss after taxation from discontinued operations (136)
(1) Total operating costs
2009
£m
Cost by type
Raw materals and consumables 167
Maintenance costs {excluding own labour} 20
Other external charges (including fuels and utilities, hire charges and
carriage costs) 143
Employment costs (i) 39
Depreciation of cwned assets 1
Net impamrment losses relating to owned assets 3
Other operating items {including rents, rates, insurance and
general expenses) (4)
Changes in mventory of finished goods and work i progress (17
Own work capitalised (1)
351
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6. Discontinued operations continued

(1) Employees

2009

£m
The total employment costs were
Wages and salanes 32
Social security costs 4
Other pension costs 3
39
7. Goodwill
, 2010 2009
£m £m
Cost and net book value at beginning of period 518 517
Additrons as a result of acquisitions (Note 33) 2 2
Disposals (1) {1)
Cost and net book value at end of penod 519 518

The total carrying amount predommantly relates to the goodwill that arose on the acquisition of Corus Group This
goodwll relates to expected synergies from combining Corus’ activities with those of Tata Steel Limited and to
assets which cannot be recognised as identifiable intangible assets

Goodwill acquired through this and other acquisitions has been allocated to groups of cash generating units for
imparrment testing (Strip Products Division £405m, Long Products Division £114m) The Group then tests
goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are any indications that goodwill may be impaired The
recoverable amount of goodwill 1s determined from value n use calculations These calculations use cash flow
forecasts based on the most recently approved financial budgets, which cover a perod of three years, and future
projections taking the analysis out to 15 years Key assumphions for the value in use calculations are those
regarding expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period, as well as market growth rates
and discount rates Changes In selling pnces and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of
future changes in the market A nil growth rate 1s used to extrapolate the cash fiow projections beyond the three-
year period of the financial budgets and the pre-tax discount rate of 12% reflects the Group's weighted average
cost of capital adjusted for specific nsks associated with particular cash generating units, and also includes an
appropriate sensitivity

The directors believe that no reasonable possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the
carrying value of any cash generating unit to matenally exceed its recoverable amount
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Notes to the consolidaled accounts

Computer Development Patents and Favourable
software costs trademarks contracts Total
2010 £m £m £m £m £m
Cost at beginning of peniod 105 27 2 267 401
Additions 20 3 - - 23
Exchange rate movements (1) (1) - - (2)
Disposals (8) - - - (8)
Cost at end of perod 116 29 2 267 414
Amortisation at beginning of period 24 6 - 246 276
Charge for the period 17 6 - 5 28
Exchange rate movements (N - - - (1)
Depreciation on disposals (8) - - - (8)
Amortisation at end of period 32 12 - 251 295
Net book value at end of period 84 17 2 16 119
Computer Development Patents and Favourable
software costs trademarks contracts Total
2009 £m £m £m £m £m
Cost at beginning of period 69 17 2 267 355
Additions Ky | 6 - - 37
Exchange rate movements 5 4 - - 9
Cost at end of period 105 27 2 267 401
Amertrisation at beginning of penod 11 2 - 61 74
Charge for the period 13 4 - 46 63
Impairment loss recognised i the penod {Note 2) - - - 139 139
Amortisation at end of penod 24 6 - 246 276
Net book value at end of penicd 81 21 2 21 125
9. Property, plant and equipment
Land and Plantand  Assets in course
buildings machinery of construction Total
2010 £m £m £m £Em
Cost or valuation at beginming of period 207 3,948 497 5,352
Additions 8 19 165 192
Disposals (33) {(434) - (467)
Exchange rate movements (30) {100) (19) (149)
Transfers and other movements 75 299 {(374) -
Cost or valuation at end of period 927 3,732 269 4,928
Bepreciation at beginning of period 203 1,029 - 1,232
Charge for the penod 45 478 - 523
Impairment losses recognised dunng the penod - 6 - 6
Impairment losses reversed during the period (3) (5) - {8)
Disposals (26) (396) - (422)
Exchange rate movements {8) (24) - (32)
Depreciation at end of penod 211 1,088 - 1,299
Net book value at end of pertod 716 2,644 269 3,629
Locse plant, tools and spares (net book value) 314
3,943
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9. Property, plant and equipment continued

Notes to the consolidated accounts

Land and Plantand  Assets in course
bulldings machinery of construcion Total
2009 £m £m £m £m
Cost or valuation at beginning of period 775 3,435 379 4,589
Additions 12 72 254 338
Disposals {11) {85) - (96)
Disposals of group undertakings {7) {15) (3} (25}
Exchange rate movements 112 374 60 546
Transfers and cther movements 26 167 (193) -
Cost or valustion at end of period aq7 3,948 497 5,352
Depreciation at beginning of period 84 472 - 556
Charge for the period 68 464 - 532
Impairment losses recognised during the penod 34 79 - 113
Disposals (9) {66) - (75)
Disposal of group undertakings - {13) - (13)
Exchange rate movements 26 93 - 119
Depreciation at end of pernod 203 1,029 - 1,232
Net book value at end of pertod 704 2,919 497 4,120
Loose plant, tools and spares (net book value) 318
4,438
2040 2009
£m £m
® The nel book value of land and buildings comprises
Freehold 670 655
Long leasehold (over 50 years unexpired) 12 16
Short leasehold 34 33
716 704
Which may be further analysed as
Assets held under finance leases
Cost 46 37
Accumulated depreciation {10) (8)
36 31
Owned assels 680 873
716 704
(n) 2010 2009
£m £m
The net book value of plant and machinery compnises
Assets held under finance leases
Cost 102 150
Accumulated depreciation (49) {77}
54 73
Owned assets 2,590 2,846
2,644 2,919
() =
The net book value of loose plant, tools and spares comprises
Cost 699 726
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (385) {408)
314 318

Loose plant, tools and spares are shown at net book value QOue to the substantal number of tems involved, and
the many vanations in thew estimated useful hives, it 1s impracticable to give the details of movements normaily

disclosed in respect of property, plant and equipment

(v) As indicated within Note | of the Presentation of accounts and accounting policies on page 29, from 1 Apnl
2009 TSE has now capitalised borrowing costs incurred on qualfying assets As a resull, there was £36k

capitalised in the penod using a capitalisation rate of 0 3%
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10. Equity accounted investments

Notes to the consclidated accounts

Interests in joint Investments in 2010 2009
veniures associates Total Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost at beginning of penod 88 16 104 a8
Additions as a result of acquisitions - - - 1
Disposals (3) - (3) (6)
Exchange rate movements - (1) (1) 11
Cost af end of period 85 15 100 104
Share of post acquisition reserves at beginning of period 10 - 10 13
Share of results in period retained 2 1 3 (5)
Exchange adjustment retained profits (2) - {2) 2
Share of post acquisition reserves at end of period 10 1 11 10
Net book value at end of penod 95 16 111 114
Net book value at beginrung of penod 98 16 114 111
{1) The Group’s main equity accounted nvestments are histed in Note 37
{u) Summarised information In respect of the Group’s joint ventures is presented below
2010 2009
£m £m
Share of the assets and habilities of the Group's joint ventures
Non-current assets 60 72
Current assets 137 160
Current liabihties (72} (104)
Non-current liabilities (30} (30)
Group's share of net assets 95 98
Share of the revenue and expenses of the Group's jomt ventures
Revenue n 619
Expenses (365) (606)
Group’s share of joint ventures' profit for the penod after taxation 6 13
Dividends receiwved {4} {15)
Group's share of retained profit/{loss) for the period 2 (2)
(1) Summansed information i respect of the Group’s associates 1s presented below
2010 2009
£m £m
Summansed balance sheet information
Total assets 110 81
Total labilities (50) {41)
Net assets 60 40
Group's share of net assets 16 16
Summansed income statement information
Revenue 181 188
Profit/{loss} for the period 1 (2)
Group's share of assoctate’s result for the period after taxation 1 -
Dividends recewved - (3)
Group’s share of retained profit/{loss) for the perniod 1 {3)
Tata Steel Europe Limited Report and Accounts 2040 43




10. Equity accounted investments continued

Notes lo the consolidated accounts

(v} The share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates as disclosed in the income statement arose as

follows
2040 2009
£m Em
Group's share of joint ventures’ profit for the perod 6 13
Group’s share of assoctates’ profit for the peniod 1 -
7 13
Profit on disposal of investment 1n joint venture 4 4
11 17

On 1 March 2010 the Group sold 1s 50% shareholding in Cindu Chemcals BV a company specialising in the
processing of the coal tar release from the coke plants at lJmuiden Works The sale to Koppers offers an
opportunity to dispose of the shares 1n a non-core actvity whilst secunng long-term off-take of the coal tar
produced at [UJmuiden The disposal in 2009 relates to the sale of the Group's 50% shareholding in GrantRail

Limited

11. Other investments

Loans and  Avallable for sale 2010 2009
recevables investments Total Total
£m £m £m £m
Carrying value at beginning of penod 7 59 66 58
Additions 1 - 1 3
Disposals (1) (3) (4) (3)
Revaluations - 2) (2) 7
Exchange rate movements - - - 1
Carrying value at end of period 7 54 61 66
None of the loans and receivables or available for sale investments are either past due or impaired
(1) The currency and interest exposure of other tnvestments of the Group 1s as follows
2010 2009
Frxed rate long Flgating rate long Fixed rate long Floating rate
term financial term financial term finanaial fong term
assets assets Total assels financial assets Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Sterling 12 1 13 10 2 12
Euros 20 4 24 23 5 28
US Dollars 2 3 5 2 5 7
Other 19 - 19 19 - 19
53 8 61 54 12 66
Disclosed as
Loans and receivables 1 6 7 1 6 7
Available for sale investments 52 2 54 53 6 59
2010 2009
Waeighted average Woelghted average Weighted average Weighted average
affective fixed time for which rate effective fixed tme for which rate
interast rate is fixed interast rate 1s fixed
% Yoars % Years
Sterling 71 78 67 86
Euros 37 65 38 76
US Dollars 70 16 5 47 204
Other 19 79 17 76
{n) Contractual matunties of other mvestments are as follows
2010 2009
£m £m
Within one year 6 4
Between two and five years 28 28
Greater than five years 20 26
No contractual matunty date 7 8
61 66
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11 Other investments contihued

Notes to the cansolidated accounts

(1) Of the available for sale investments of £54m above (2009 £59m), the majenty are held by Crucible insurance

Company Limited to fund insurance liabiities of the Group The total investments arise as follows

2010

2009

£m £m
UK listed investments 7 5
Overseas listed investments 43 48
50 53
12. Other non-current assets
2010 2009
£m £
Denvative financial instruments (Note 21) 13 22
Other recervables 3 -
16 22
13. Inventories
2010 2009
£m £m
Raw matenals and consumables 802 993
Work In progress 498 485
Finished goods and goods for resale 575 631
1,878 2,089

The value of inventones above I1s stated after impairment for obsolescence and wnile-downs to net realisable value

of £109m (2009 £378m)

14. Current tax

Assats

Liabilities

£m £m

2010
UK corporation tax 3 {14}
Qverseas taxation 8 (74)
11 (88)

2009
UK corporation tax - -
Overseas taxation 20 {113)
20 {113)

15. Trade and other receivables

2010 2008
£m £m
Trade recevables 1,339 1,409
Less provision for impairment of receivables (47) {40)
1,292 1,369
Amounts owed by other group companies 16 4
Amounts owed by parent undertaking 3 5
Amounts owed by joint ventures 22 15
Amounts owed by associates 5 7
Denvative financiat instruments (Note 21) 25 279
Other recelvables 111 97
1,474 1,776
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15. Trade and other receivables continued

(1) Trade recevables at 31 March 2010 are further analysed as follows

Notes to the consolidated accounts

Gross credit risk Subject to credit Gross amount Impairment
2010 amount Insurance cover considered impaired provislon made
£m £fm £m £m
Amounts not yet due 1,221 564 34 11
One month overdue 61 25 3 4
Two months overdue 14 6 1 1
Three months overdue 6 2 1 1
Greater than three months overdue 37 7 16 33
1,339 604 55 47
Gross credit nsk Subject to credit Gross amount Impairmant provisian
2000 amoxérljrtl insurance co;: considered lmpal;lant'i] maidne‘.
Amounts not yet due 1,210 742 7 5
One month overdue 93 58 2 1
Two months overdue 50 a5 3 2
Three months overdue 20 12 5 5
Greater than three months overdue 36 24 28 27
1,409 871 45 40

The Group considers its maximum exposure to credit nsk with respect to customers at 31 March 2010 to be £688m
(2009 £498m), which 15 the fair value of trade receivables less those that are subject to credit insurance cover as
shown In the table above The other classes of financial assets within trade receivables do not contain impaired
assets There I1s no concentration of credit nsk with any particular customers

Credit isk management ts discussed further in Note 21 on pages 52 and 53

(1) Movements in the provision for impairment of recewvables are as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

At beginning of period 40 36
Impairments n the period 10 12
Amounts utilised, exchange and other movements (3) (8)
At end of penod 47 40
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Notes to the consclidated accounts

16. Cash, short term deposits and short term investments

2010 2009

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 243 322
Short term depaosits 68 70
Cash and short term deposits 311 392
Short term investments 2 10
313 402

The currency and interest exposure of cash, short term deposits and short term investments of the Group Is as

follows
2010 2009
Short term Short term Short term Short term

Cash deposits ir 1 ts Tota! Cash deposlis Investments Total
£m £m £m Em £m £m £m £m
Sterling 104 11 - 115 117 53 - 170
Euros 79 33 - 112 136 17 8 161
US Dollars 20 24 - 44 49 - - 49
Other 40 - 2 42 20 - 2 22
243 68 2 313 322 70 10 402
Floating interest rate 243 1 2 246 322 11 10 343
Fixed interest rate - o7 - 67 - 59 - 59

Short term deposits are highly liquid investments with onginal matunties of three months or less and short term
investments are deposits for periods not exceeding one year The weighted average interest rate across both
these types of investment was 0 3% (2009 06%) Duning each of the penods above cash earned interest at a

floating rate based on LIBOR or other official local rates

17. Trade and other payables

2009

£m £m

Trade payables 1,359 1,187
Amounts owed to other group companies 5 6
Amounts owed to parent undertaking 4 14
Amounts owed to joint ventures 6 2
Amounts owed t0 associates 4 4
Other taxation and social secunity 64 39
Interest payable 12 4
Capital expenditure creditors 56 96
Dervative financial instruments (Note 21) 21 105
Other payables 410 475
1,941 1,832

Other payables include amounts provided in respect of insurances, holiday pay, other employment costs and

sundry other items
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18. Borrowings

Notes (o tha consolidated accounts

2010 2009
£m £m
Current

Bank overdrafts 20 11
Fioating rate guaranteed Loan Notes (v1) 27 41
Non-returnable proceeds from secuntisation programme (v) 150 202
Ofther loans 100 92
Bank loans 421 189
Obligations under finance leases 14 16
732 551
2010 2009
£m £m

Non-current
Amounts owed to parent undertaking 778 250
Bank and other loans 2,596 3,193
Obligations under finance leases 88 109
3,462 3,552

Interest payable on the above borrowings 1s included within trade and other payables (see Note 17)

(1) The currency and interest exposure of gross borrowings of the Group at the end of the peried is as follows

2010 2009
Fixad rate Floating rate Fixed rate Floating rate
horrewings borrowings Total bomowings borrowings Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Sterling 60 1,449 1,509 79 929 1,008
Euros 42 2,453 2,495 47 2,842 2,889
US Dollars - 190 190 - 204 204
Other - - - - 2 2
102 4,092 4,194 126 3,977 4,103
2010 2009
Waeighted
Waelghted average time for Weighted average Weighted average
avarage affactive which rate Is effectve fixed ume for which rate
fixed interast rate fixed interest rate is fixed
% Years % Years
Sterling 75 99 74 87
Euros 51 68 54 35

The majonty of floating rate borrowings are bank borrowings bearing interest rates based on EURIBOR or official
local rates Of the total floating rate borrowings of £4,092m, £1,824m has been converted into fixed rates with
interest rate swaps over a period of 3 to 4 years Interest rate nsk management i1s discussed further in Note 21 on

page 52

The weighted average interest rate on cument borrowings was 1 80% (2009 4 4%) and on non-current borrowings

was 3 5% (2009 5 5%)

(1} The matunty of borrowings i1s as follows

2010 2009
£m £m
In one year or less or on demand 736 553
Between one and two years 621 461
Between two and three years 978 644
Between three and four years 355 1,013
Between four and five years 760 367
More than five years 782 1,106
4,232 4,144
Less amounts representing interest i future minimum lease payments {38) (41)
4,194 4,103

Analysed as
Current habilities 732 551
Non-current hahilities 3,462 3,552
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Notes to the consolidated accounts

18. Borrowings continued

Amounts payable under finance leases are as follows

Minlmum lease payments Prasent valug of minimum lease payments

2010 2009 2010 2009

£m £m £m Em

Not later than one year 17 18 13 16
Later than one year but not more than five years 60 71 42 51
More than five years 63 77 47 58
140 166 102 125

Less future finance charges on finance leases {38} (41) - -
Present value of lease obligations 102 125 102 125

{1} The matunty of undrawn committed borrowing facilities of the Group 1s as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

In one year or less - -
Between one and two years - -
More than two years 400 409
400 409

The Group's semor facility limits the amount of other uncommitted unsecured credtt faciities to £430m (2009
£430m) with a sub-hmit of £55m (2009 £55m) for overdrafts, bill discounting, financial guarantees and other debt
classed as such on the balance sheet

(v} On 27 April 2007, the borrowings and lender commitmenis under previous facility arrangements were
refinanced with the establishment of new borrowing arrangements The New SFA entered into between, among
others, Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited, Citibank N A (London Branch), Standard Chartered Bank, ABN
AMRO, TSUK, TUKH3 and TSNL consists of a £1,670m five year amortising term foan, a £4,500m seven year
amortising term loan and a £500m five year revelving credit facility These faciliies are secured by the assets of
Corus and are non-recourse to TSL On 3 May 2007, these term loans were fully drawn in connection with the
refinancing and continue to be so at 31 March 2010 Further, £100m of the revolving credit facility was drawn down
at 31 March 2010 (2009 £91m)

On 19 December 2007, the New SFA was secured by guarantees and debentures granted by matenal subsidianes
of Corus {other than CN and its subsidranes) and by a share pledge over the shares in CN

Bunng 2007 the New SFA was syndicated in several steps Dunng the syndication process the facilities were
restructured to some extent and the final composition in approximate amounts at the close of syndication was

(a) an amortising term loan facility of five years £1,565m,

(b) a non-amortising term loan facility of five and a half years £550m,
{c) an amortising term loan facility of six years £299m,

(d) an amorhsing term loan facility of seven years £649m,

{e) a revolving credit facility of five years £500m, and

(f) a Lean note guarantee facility of five years £80m

The proceeds of the syndication were received in euros, sterling and US dollars However, 100% of the proceeds
recelved in US dollars and part of the proceeds recewved in sterling were converted using cross currency swaps
INto euros

The New SFA 1s also subject to financial covenants including cash flow to net debt service, maximum net debt to
EBITDA, EBITDA to net finance charges, and maximum capital expenditure levels However, as a result of the
severe downturn 1in its markets TSE, through its subsidiary TSUK, requested and obtained the consent of the
majonty lenders under the New SFA to certain amendments (the ‘Amendments’) to the terms of the New SFA to
cover the anticipated penod of the downturn As part of the agreement reached, testing of earnings-related
covenanis were largely suspended until March 2010 and have resumed with significantly greater flexibility than
was the case with the oniginal cavenants in the New SFA Furthermore, there has been no increase in the current
level of nterest margin cost for the remaming Iife of the loan The revised covenant package did not involve any
additional finance from the lenders under the New SFA nor any rescheduling of TSE's debt-servicing
commitments Subject to execution by the Agent of an amendment and restatement agreement (the 'ARA’) and
satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out therein, the consent of the majonty lenders under the New SFA to
such request was obtained on 29 May 2009 The ARA was executed and the Amendments took effect on 12 June
2009
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Netes to the consolidated sccounts

18. Borrowings continued

(v) The Group has a revolving period secuntisation programme under which it may offer to assign all of its nights,
title and interest in a pool of involced UK trade recewvables to & third party that 1s funded ultimately in the
commercial paper markets This securtisation programme was increased on 13 March 2008 from £275m to £300m
and the matunity extended from Apnl 2009 to June 2009 Further extension of the programme was dependent on a
number of factors, the principal one being the agreement of the SFA consents request, which was obtained on 29
May 2009 and became effective on 12 June 2009 The secuntisation programme was extended and its maturity I1s
now 31 March 2011, although, as a consequence of the severe downturn In the Group's markets, the programme
was reduced on 29 June 2009 from £300m to £150m This reduction mirrored the lower level of UK trade
receivables eligible for use in the programme As at the end of March 2010 the securntisation programme was fully
drawn in an amount of £150m (2008/09 £202m) Subsequent to the year end the programme was increased on 4
June 2010 from £150m to £250m

{v1) The TSUK fleating rate guaranteed loan notes are due 2013 Interest 1s payable half-yearly in arrears at a rate
of 1% below six-month sterling LIBOR

19. Other non-current liabilities

2010 2009
£m £m
Denvative financial Instruments (Note 21) 123 160
Other creditors 25 48
148 208
2010 2009
£m £m
An analysis of other creditors by currency 1s set out below
Sterling 21 46
Euros 3 2
Other 1
25 48

These other creditors, which predominately relate to long term insurance lrabtliftes, are due for repayment within
five yaars and are not subject to inferest

20. Currency analysis of net assets

The Group's net assets by pnncipal currencies at the end of the penod are

2010 2009
Cash, short Lash, short
Operational term deposits Operational term deposits
net assets by and short net assets by and short
functional term Gross functional term Gross
cumancy investmants borrowings Net assets currency Investments borrowings Net assels
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Sterling 2,555 115 (1,509} 1,161 3,420 170 (1,008) 2,582
Euros 2,840 112 (2,495) 457 3,198 161 (2,889) 470
US Dollars 60 44 (190) (86) 109 49 (204) (46)
Other 102 42 - 144 114 22 {2) 134
5,557 313 (4,194) 1,676 6,841 402 (4,103) 3,140

Foreign currency nisk management 1s discussed in Note 21 on page 52
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Netas to the consalidated accounts

21. Financial instruments and risk management

(1) The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial habiliies recorded at amortised
cost In the financial statements approximate therr farr values The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets

and financial habilities are

2010 2009
£m £m
Financial assets
Loans and recevables
Other investments (Note 11) 7 7
Trade recevables (Note 15) 1,202 1,369
Other receivables 157 128
Other short term investments (Note 16) 2 10
Cash and short term deposits {Note 16) 31 392
1,769 1,906
Financial habilities
Financial iabilities held at amortised cost
Trade and other payables ' {1,856) (1,788)
Current borrowings (Note 18) (732) (551)
Naon-current borrowings {(Note 18) {3,462} (3.552)
Other non-current habiliies (Note 19) {25) (48)
(6,075} (5,939)
{4,306} (4,033)

1 Excludes other taxabon and social secunty

{n) Far value measurements recognised in the balance sheet

The following table categonses the Group’s financial instruments held at fair value by the valuation methodology
apphed in determining this value Where possible, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and habilities
are used {Level 1 and this includes the Group's holdings of listed investments}) Where such prices are not
avallable, the asset or liability 1s classified as Level 2, provided all significant inputs to the valuation model used are
based on observable market data (this includes the Group's forward currency and commodity contracts, cross
currency swaps and interest rate swaps) If one or more of the significant inputs to the valuation model 1s not
based on observable market data, the instrument is classified as Level! 3 (the Group has no such instruments at

March 2010)
2010
Level 1 Loval 2 Lovel 3 Totak
£m £m £m £m
Financial assets at fair value through the profit and loss

Denvative financial assets - 38 - 38
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 11) 54 - - 54
54 38 - 92

Financial iabihties at fair value through the profit and loss
Denvative financial labilities - (144) - (144)
- (144) - (144)

There were no transfers between any of the levels dunng the year
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Naotes to the consolidatad aceounts

21. Financial instruments and risk management continued
{n) Financral nsk management

The Group uses a varnety of financial instruments, including derivatives, to finance its operations and to manage
nsks ansing from those operations The pnncipal financial nsks to which the Group 1s exposed are those of fereign
exchange, commodity, interest rate and liquidity which are largely managed by the centralised Group treasury
functions whose activities are governed by policies and procedures approved by the Executive committee The
Treasury committee meet at least quarterly to review activibes and o monitor treasury performance aganst
policles

(a) Market nsk foreign exchange risk and management

At 31 March 2010, the Group had £4,194m (2009 £4,103m) n borrowings, of which £2,495m (2009 £2,889m) is
denominated in euros, £1,509m (2009 £1,008m) 1s denominated i sterling, £190m {2009 £204m) s denominated
in US dollars and Eril (2009 £2m) 1s denominated in other currencies As descnibed in Note 18, the majonty of the
Group’s borrowings relate to the SFA and 1s held by the euro-dencminated subsidiary company TSNL In order to
reduce the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange nsk, all of the US dollar and £244m of the sterling denominated
debt has been converted with crass currency swaps to euros

It 1s the Group’s policy that substantially all of the net currency transaction exposure ansing from contracted sales
and purchases over an approximate 6 month time honzon are covered by selling or purchasing foreign currency
forwards At 31 March 2010, the Group held forward currency sales of principally euros and US dollars amounting
to £378m (2009 £1,032m} and purchases of principally US dollars and sterling amounting to £1,093m (2009
£2,560m)

A 10% appreciation of sterling would increase the Group’s net assets by approximately £249m (2009 £201m),
increase equity by approximately £333m (2009 £269m) and decrease operating profit by approximately £83m
(2009 £68m) Tius sensitivity analysis has been based on the composition of the Group's financial assets and
liabilites at 31 March, excluding trade payables, trade recevables, other non-denvative financial instruments not n
net debt and finance lease obhgations which do not present a matenal exposure

(b) Market nsk commodity nsk and management

The Group makes use of commeodity futures contracts and options to manage its purchase price nisk for certain
commodities In addition, very lmited metal hedging procedures have been maintained on behalf of the aluminium
downstream assets sold during 2006, under transiional service agreements Across the Group forward purchases
are also made of zinc, tin and nickel to cover sales contracts with fixed metal prices

At 31 March 2010, a 10% appreciation of market prices would decrease the Group's equity by approximately £2m
(2009 £1m) There was ne significant market nsk relating to the income statement since the majonty of commodity
derivalives are treated as cash flow hedges with movements being reflected in equity and the tming and
recogmition in the income statement would depend on the paint at which the underlying hedged transactions were
also recognised

(c) Market nsk interest nsk and management

The objective of the Group's interest nsk management 1s to reduce its exposure to the impact of changes In
Interest rates in the cumrencies in which debt 1s borrowed It 1s a requirement of the New SFA that a mimimum of
50% of the debt be converted into fixed rates of interest for a mrimum period of 3 years At 31 March 2010, of the
total SFA borrowings of £3,074m, 53% was subject to interest rate swaps The fixed interest swap rates vary from
3 73% to 3 75% and the floating rates are based on EURIBOR

Based on the composition of net debt at 31 March 2010, a 1% ncrease in interest rates over the 12 month period
would increase the Group's net finance expense by approximately £21m (2003 £22m) There would be no
matenal effect on equity other than those relating directly to movements in the income statement

{d) Credit nsk

Cash deposits, trade recevables and other financial instruments give nse to credit nsk for the Group ansing from
the amounts and obligations due from counter-parties The credil nsk on short term deposits 1s managed by
miting the aggregate amounts and duration of exposure to any one counter party, depending on its credit rating
and other credit information, and by regular reviews of these ratings The possibility of matenal loss ansing in the
event of non-performance I1s considered unhkely

Individual operating units are responsible for controlling therr own credit nsk ansing from the Group's normal

commercial operations, although they must act within a senes of centrally agreed guidelines Trade recewvables
are, where appropriate, subject to a credit insurance programme, and regular reviews are undertaken of exposure
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Notes o the consolidatad accounts

21. Financial instruments and risk management continued

to key customers and those where known nsks have ansen or still persist Any impairment to the recoverability of
debtors 1s reflected in the income staternent

Credit nsk also arises from the possible falure of counter-parties to meet their obhgations under currency and
commodity hedging instruments and interest and cross currency swaps However, counter-parties are established
banks and financial institutions with huigh credit ratings and the Group continually monitors each institution’s credit
qualty and hmits as a matter of policy the amount of credit exposure to any one of them The Group’s theoretical
nsk 1s the cost of replacement at current market prices of these transactions in the event of default by counter-
parties The Group believes that the nsk of incurnng such losses 1s remote and underlying pnncipal amounts are
not at nsk

(e) Liqurdity risk

The management of liquidity risk 15 co-ordinated and controlled centrally by the Group's treasury operations
Liquidity risk 1s managed by mamntaining access to a level of committed and uncommitted borrowing facilities to
ensure liquidity 1s appropnate to forecasted cash flows to satisfy general corporate or working capital requirements
As shown in Note 18 on page 49, the fotal undrawn committed borrowing facilities at 31 March 2010 s £400m
{2009 £409m)

The Board and Executive committee review the Group's liquichty and any associated risk on a monthly basis, which
includes a review of the Group funding report, cash fiow forecasts and bank covenant headroom

The following table 1s a maturity analysis of the anticipated contractual cash flows including interest payable for the
Group's denvative and non-derivative financial habilities on an undiscounted basis, which therefore differs from
both the carrying value and farr value Floating rate interest 1s estimated using the prevailing interest rate at the
end of the reporting penod Cash flows in foreign currencies are transiated using the period end spot rates at 31
March 2010

2010

Contractual Less than Between1-5 More than &
cash flows 1 year vaars years
£m £m £Em £m
Non-derivative financial habihities
Bank overdrafts {20} (20) - -
Trade and other payables ' {1,856} (1,856} - -
Floating rate guaranteed loan notes (27) {27} - -
Nen-returnable preceeds from the securitisation programme (151) (151) - -
Finance lease obligations (140) (17} {60) {63)
Bank and other loans {4,861) (730} {3,413) {718}
Other credrtors (25) - {25) -
{7,080) {2,801) (3,498) {781}
Dernivative financial habilities
Foreign currency contracts
Payables {1,467} {1,467) - -
Receivables 1,473 1,473 - -
Commodity contracts (3} (3) - -
Interest rate swaps (41) (32) {9) -
Cross currency swaps
Payables (568) (26) (542) -
Receivables 565 26 539 -
(a1) (29) (12) -
Total financial habilities (7,121) (2,830) {3,510) (781)

es olher axa and social secunty
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21. Financial instruments and risk management continued

2009
Contractual Less than Between 1 ~5 Mora than 5
cash flows 1 year years years
£m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial habihities
Bank overdrafts (11) (11) - -
Trade and other payables ' {1,788) (1,788) - -
Floating rate guaranteed loan notes (45) (1) (44) -
Non-returnable proceeds from the secuntisation programme (209) (209) - -
Finance lease obhgations (151) {(17) (67) (67)
Bank and other loans (5,191) (312) {3,154) (1.725)
Cther creditors {48) - {48) -
{7,443) (2,338) (3,313) (1,792)
Derivative financial liabilities
Foreign currency contracts
Payables {1,309} {1,308) (1) -
Receivables 1,246 1,245 1 -
Commodity contracts (1) (2) 1 -
Interest rate swaps (83) {29) (54) -
Cross currency swaps
Payables (618) {19) (326) (273)
Recewvables 551 16 271 264
(214) {97) {108} (9)
Total financal habilities (7,657) (2,435) (3,421) (1.801)

i E;C uaﬁ DE e EXHEUH ana SOCIE‘ secunty
(v) Derivative financial instruments

Dernvative financial instruments used by the Group include forward exchange contracts, commodity contracts,
Interest and cross currency swaps These financial instruments are utilised to hedge significant future transactions
and cash flows and in the majonity of cases these are subject to hedge accounting under IAS 39 The Group does
nol hold or i1ssue denvative financial nstruments for trading purposes All transactions in derivative financial
instruments are undertaken to manage nsks ansing from underlying business activities

The following table sets out the fair values of denvatives held by the Group at the end of the reporting penod

2010 2009
Assets Liabllities Assets Liabites
£m £m £m £m
Non-current
Commodity contracts - - 3 (1)
Interest rate swaps - (70} - (86)
Cross currency swaps 13 {53} 19 {73)
13 {123) 22 (160)
Current
Foreign currency contracts 16 (9) 267 (93}
Commeodity contracts 9 {12) 12 {12)
25 (21) 279 {105)
38 (144) 301 {265)

The farr value of denvative financial instruments that were designated as cash flow hedges at the end of the
reporting period were

2010 2009
£m £m
Foreign currency contracts 12 122
Commodity contracts 7 {4)
Interest rate swaps {70) (86)
Cash flow hedge reserve (81) 32
Deferred taxation 13 14
Cash flow hedge reserve net of taxation (38) 46
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21. Financial instruments and risk management continued

Amounts recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve, excluding deferred tax, are expected to affect profit and loss

as follows
2010 2009
£m £rm
Within one year 19 117
Greater than one year {70) (85)
{51) 32
2010 2009
£m £m
The following amounts have been charged/{credited) to the cash fiow
hedge reserve durnng the penod
Foreign currency contracts 55 202
Commodity contracts (27) 109
Interest rate swaps {(12) (92)
2010 2009
£m £m
The following amounts have heen {credited)/charged to the income
statement and inventones from the cash flow hedge reserve during
the penod
Foreign currency contracts (56) 87
Commodity contracts (16) 48

At the end of the reporting period the total notional amount of outstanding foreign currency and commodity
contracts and cross currency and interest rate swaps that the Group has committed to are as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

Foreign currency contracts 1,495 3,592
Commodity futures and options 121 389
Interest rate swaps 1,824 1,904
Cross currency swaps 432 447

The Group covers substantally 100% of its contracted currency transaction exposure over an approximate 6
month time honzon by way of forward currency exchange contracts and options

Ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges recogrused in profit and loss was a charge of £nil in 2010 (2009 £nil) During
2009 £170m of foreign exchange gains were recycled to the income statement from equity due to the fact that the
underlying forecast transactions were no longer expected to occur No amounts have been recycled in the current
year Anamount of £14m (2009 £18m) has been recognised in the income statement in relation to cross currency
swaps This amount 1s equal and opposite to the foreign currency movement on the sterling and US dollar

denominated debt within TSNL
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22. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Ratonalisabon Employea Tota! Total

cosis Insurance benefits Other 2010 2009
£m £m £m m £m £m
At beginning of peniod 179 38 36 97 350 172
Charged to income statement 214 20 5 28 268 207
Released to iIncome statement (42) - (1) (17) (60) (4)
Disposat of group undertakings - - - - - (7)
Utilised in period (148) (3) - {18) (169) (35)
Exchange rate movements - (1) - (2) (3) i7
At end of penod 203 54 40 89 386 350
Analysed as
Current liabilities 138 1 4 34 177 144
Non-current liabilities 65 53 36 55 209 206

(1) Rationalisation costs include redundancy provisions as follows

2010 2009
£m £m
At beginning of penod 102 14
Group charge for redundancies (across manufactunng, selling, distnbution and
administration) 116 a2
Released to income statement (28) -
Utilised during the penod {110) {6)
Exchange rate movements - 2
At end of period 80 102
2010 2009
£m £m
Other rationalisatron provisiens arise as follows
Onerous lease payments relating to unutilised premises 46 50
Environmental and other remediation costs at sites subject to restructuning/closure 13 8
Contract cancellation and mothballing costs in relation to Teesside Cast Products 58 -
Other 6 19
123 77

Although the precise timing in respect of rationalisation provisions including redundancy 1s not known, the majority
1s expected to be incurred within one year

{n) The insurance provisions relate to Crucible Insurance Company Limited which underwrites marine cargo,
employers’ hability, public hability and retrospective heaning impairment policies for the Group These provisions
represent losses incurred but not yet reported 1n respect of nsks retained by the Group rather than passed to third
party insurers and include amounts in relabion to cerlain disease insurance clams All are subject to regular review
and are adusted as appropnate, the value of final insurance settlements 1s uncertain and so I1s the timing of
expenditure

(m) Provisions for employee benefits include long term benefits such as long semice and sabbahcal leave,
disabilty benefits and sick leave All items are subject to independent actuanal assessments

(v) Other provisions include £13m (2009 £13m) for product warranty claims During the period there were charges
to profit and loss of £4m (2009 £5m) and cash settlements of £3m (2009 £3m) aganst these clams Additional
other prowisions also include environmental provisions of £13m (2009 £18m} for continuing operations on
disposed units for which the timing of any potential expenditure 1s uncertain and early retirement provisions of
£24m (2009 £21m)

(v) Rationalisation provisions charged in the period include £6m (2009 £44m)in respect of onerous land leases on

a discounted basis These provisions would have amounted to £7m (2009 £61m) if they had been made on an
undiscounted basis

Tata Steel Europe Limited Report and Accounts 2010 56




Notes 1o the consolidated accounts

23, Deferred tax

The followang 1s the analysis of the deferred tax balances for balance sheet purposes

2010 2009
£m Em

Deferred tax assets 190 164
Deferred tax habilities (277) (437)
{87) (273)

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabiities recognised by the Group, and the movements
thereon, during the current reporting penod

Accelerated tax Total
L i ta
2010 depredatiﬂo‘lr_: cass‘t_.ezws1 Pensi gl?n'-‘. Otriura‘: t:: -
At begmning of period (450} 472 (174) {(121) (273)
Credited/(charged) to profit and loss 72 {1} 110 (27) 154
Exchange rate movements 15 {4 - 6 17
{Charged)/credited to equity - - 11 4 15
At end of period {363} 467 (53) (138) (87)
Accalarated tax o fotal
d h
2009 epreuah& Lossg Pensl;mn i ;r: ?:1'_“
At beginning of period (462) 474 (346) (72) (406)
Additions relating to acquisitions - - - 18 18
(Charged)/credited to profit and loss {(7) (18) 100 (20) 55
Exchange rate movements (12) 16 (5) (15) (16)
Credited/{charged) to equity 31 - 77 (32) 76
At end of period (450) 472 (174 (12%) (273)

The deferred tax assets of £190m (2009 £164m) are recoverable agamst future forecast taxable profits that the
directors consider to be more likely than not to occur Deferred tax assets have not been recogrised in respect of
total tax losses of £1,930m (2009 £1,024m) These losses compnse UK losses of £1,473m (2009 £582m) and
non-UK losses of £457m (2009 £442m) The non-UK losses include losses of £303m (2009 £307m) that expire
between the years 2010 to 2027

At the end of the reporting penod, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistnbuted
earnings of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised 1s
£2,397m {2009 £3,144m) No Lability has been recognised in raspect of these differences because the Group 1s In
a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temperary differences and it 1s probable that such differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future

24. Deferred income

Contract Development Total Total
advances grants 2010 2009
£m £m £m £m
At beginning of penod 23 43 66 68
New contnbutions received - 5 5 12
Releases to profit and loss - (5) {5) (16)
Exchange rate movements - - - 2
At end of peniod 23 43 66 66
25. Share capital
The share capital of the Company 1s shown below
2010 2009
Authcnsed £m £m
5,000,000,000 (2009 5,000,000,000) ordinary shares of £1 each 5,000 5,000
2010 2009
Allotted, called up and fully paid £m £m
3,514,860,999 {2009 3,514,860,999) ordinary shares of £1 each 3,515 3,515

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no nght to fixed income
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25. Share capital continued

The movements In share capital are set out below

Notes to tha consolidated aceounts

Qrdinary shares

Authonsed No of shares £m
2010

At beginning and end of penod 5,000,000,000 5,000

Ordinary shares

Authonsed No of shares £m
2009

Al beginning and end of penod 5,000,000,000 5,000

Ordinary shares

Issued No_of shares £m
2010

Al beginning and end of penod 3,514,860,999 3,515

Ordinary shares

Issued No_of shares £m
2009
At beginning of period 3,514,423,996 3,514
New shares 1ssued 437,003 1
Al end of period 3,514,860,999 3,515
26. Future capital expenditure
2010 2009
£m £m
Contracted but not provided for 118 146
Authorised but contracts not yet placed 82 105

At the end of the penod there was £11m {2009 nil) of expenditure in relation to intangible assets

27. Operating leases

zt:lo 2u£09

m inl

Future minimum lease payments for the Group at the end of the penod are

Naot later than one year 132 138

Later than one year and not later than five 329 315

More than five years 248 113
709 566

Of the total operating lease payments, £491m relates to the time charter hire of fifteen vessels by the Group's
central supphes and transport function The lease penod for these assets ranges from six months to ten years

28. Contingencies

2010 2009

£m £m
Guarantees given under trade agreements 51 99
Cthers 92 79

Following the purported termination by the Consortium of the Offtake Framework Agreement, TCP's Redcar blast
furnace and Lackenby steelmaking were mothballed durning February 2010 Corus UK Limited has submitled the
dispute with the Consartium to arbitration and that arbitration process 1s ongoing, with a seres of clams and
counter claims made by the parties There has been no recognition of any outcome of these legal proceedings at
31 March 2010 There are, however, certain balances in relation to the OFA within the 31 March 2010 balance
sheet

Dependent on future events, other current legal proceedings and recent significant contracts may give nise to

contingencies and commitments that are not currently refiected in the above figures There are also contingent
liabiities in the ordinary course of business in connection with the completion of contractual arrangements
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29. Reconciliation of cash generated from operations

Notes to lhe consolldated accounts

2010 2009
£m £m
Loss after taxation {929) (466)
Adjustments for
Taxation {157) (7N
Depreciation and amortisation including impairrment items (net of grants released) 544 840
Loss on disposals 9 120
Finance income (16} {18)
Finance expense 248 2,
Share of results of joint ventures and associates {11) {17)
Other non cash items (2) 7
Movement in pension prepayments and provisions (9) {(31)
Movement in provisions for impairments of trade receivables 7 1
Movement in insurance and other provisions 16 26
Mavement in loose plant, tools and spares (4) (16)
Movement in inventones 175 240
Movement in receivables 100 469
Movement in payables 180 (526)
Maovement in contract advances - (4)
Net rationalisation costs provided 172 170
Utihsation of rationalisation provisions {148) (26)
Net cash flow generated from operations 175 883
30. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
2010 2009
£m £m
Movement In cash and cash equivalents (84) 6
Movement in short term investments (8) -
Movement In net debt (167) 290
Change n net debt resulting from cash flows in penod (259) 296
Exchange rate movements 122 (485)
Fair value of cross currency swaps 12 {10)
Other non cash changes (41 {1
Movement in net debt in penod (166) {200)
Net debt at beginning of period {3,755) (3,555)
Net debt at end of period {3,921) {3,755)
31. Analysis of net debt
Exchange rate Other non-cash
2009 Cash flow movements movements 2010
£m £m £m £m £m
Cash and short term deposits 392 (75) (6} - 3
Bank overdrafts (11) (9) - - (20}
Cash and cash equivalents 381 (84) (6} - 291
Short term investments 10 (8) - - 2
Liguid resources 10 (8) - - 2
t.ong term borrowings (3,443) (433) 112 390 (3,374)
Fair value of cross currency swaps (54) - 2 12 (40}
Other loans (524) 248 12 (434) (698}
Obligations under finance leases (125) 18 2 3 {102}
Total debt excluding bank overdrafts (4,1486) (167) 128 (29) {4,214)
(3,755) (259) 122 (29) {3,921}
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32. Pensions and post-retirement benefits

Introduction

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension and post-retirement schemes throughout the world,
covering the majonty of employees Benefits offered by these schemes are largely based on final pay and years of
service at retirement With the exception of plans in Germany, France and certain unfunded arrangements in the
UK, the assets of these schemes are held in separately administered funds

The pnincipal pension schemes of the Group at 31 March 2010 are

¢ the Bnlish Steel Pension Scheme (BSPS), which 1s the main scheme for tustoric and present employees
based in the UK,

* the Stchting Pensioenfonds Hoogovens (SPH), which 1s the main scheme for historic and present
employees based in the Netherlands, and

In January 2009 the Group announced its intentton to close the BSPS to new members, however consultation with
employees and therr representatives 1s ongoing On 6 Aprnit 2009 the Corus Engineering Steels Pension Scheme
(CESPS) was merged into the Brnitish Steel Pension Scheme (BSPS) Under the terms of the merger agreement,
the Group will make payments of £10m per annum over a seven year period (n arder to clear the funding deficit in
CESPS and bring both schemes to comparable funding levels, and, m respect of current active CESPS members,
will make payment of any early retrement redundancy strains on the BSPS as they anse in respect of CESPS
service Following the merger, CESPS assets and liabiihes were transferred i full to BSPS

The Group accounts for all pension and post-retirement benefit arrangements using JAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’,
as amended to allow actuanal gains and losses to be recognised in retained earmings, with independent actuanes
being used to calculate the costs, assets and labiities to be recogmsed in relation to these schemes The present
value of the defined benefit obligation, the current service cost and past service costs were calculated by these
actuanes using the projected unit credit method However, the ongoing funding arrangements of each scheme, In
place to meet their long term pension lhabilities, are governed by the individual scheme docurmentaton and national
legislation The accounting and disclosure requirements of IAS 19 do not affect these funding arrangements

The Group afso parhcipates in a number of defined contnbution plans on behalf of relevant personnel Any
expense recognised In relation to these schemes represents the value of contnbutions payable dunng the penod
by the Group at rates specified by the rules of those plans The only amounts included in the balance sheet are
those relating to the prior month's contnbution that were not due to be paid untl after the end of the reporting
period

Actuarial assumptions

A range of assumptions must be used to determine the 1AS 19 amounts and the values to be included In the
balance sheet and income staternent can vary significantly wath only small changes in these assumptions
Furthermore the actuanal assumptions used may vary according to the country in which the plans are situated

Key assumptions applied at the end of the reporting penod were as follows

BSPS SPH Othar
2010 % % %
Salary growth 460 250 100to 460
Pension increases 360 200 2 00 to 3 60
Discount rate 550 4 60 250to 600
Inflation 360 2 00 100to 580
2009 BSP?Sn cesp‘z SPQ Oth:{:-
Salary growth 390 390 250 200t0400
Pension increases 290 280 200 100to0 330
Discount rate 640 640 620 390to700
Inflation 290 290 200 100to 580

T For BSPS and CESPS a U% real rat@ was assurmed fer 200910
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32. Pensions and post-retirement benefits continued

Key assumptions applied in arnving at the income statement charge were as follows

BSPS SPH Other
2010 % % %
Salary growth’ 390 250 200to 400
Penston increases 290 200 100to 330
Discount rate 6 40 620 390to 700
Inflation 290 200 100to 580
Expected return on plan assets
Equities 8 50 800 60010870
Bonds 470 450 300to 680
Property 6 60 600 630to 760
Cash/cthers 3 40 6 50 250t0470
"1 For BEFS and CESPS @ U% feal Tale was assumed 1ar 200910
2009 BSP: cesré SF‘; om:;
Salary growth 450 450 250 200t04 50
Pension increases 350 340 200 150t0330
Discount rate 660 660 610 440t 660
Inflation 350 350 200 200to425
Expecied return on plan assets
Equities 810 810 750 7000910
Bonds 520 520 4 50 45010660
Property 665 665 550 600to 665
Cash/others 4 85 4 85 7 50 350te575

The discount rate 15 set with reference to the current rate of return on AA rated corporate bonds of equivalent
currency and term to the scheme habiiies Projected inflation rate and pension increases are long term predictions
based, mainly, on the yield gap between long term fixed interest and index-linked gilts The Group establishes the
expected rate of return on plan assets by developing a forward looking, long term return assumption for each asset
class, taking Into account factors such as the expected real return for the specific asset class, respective yields
and market rates at the end of the reporting penod These returns are assumed to be net of Investment expenses

Demographic assumptions are set having regard to the latest trends in life expectancy, plan expernience and other
relevant data, including externally published actuanal information within each national junsdiction The
assumplions are reviewed and updated as necessary as part of the penodic actuanal funding valuations of the
individual pension and post-retirement plans In particular the mortality assumptions used at 31 March 2010 for the
BSPS are based on the results of an investigation into the BSPS scheme experience up to March 2008 The
assumptions adopted are in ine with the PNMAQOO/WADQ table, with appropnate age rating applied and reflect
scheme expenence These rates are then projected to refiect future improvements in ife expectancy in ine with
the medium cohort projections This indicates that today's 65 year old male member is expected to live on average
to approximately 84 years of age and a 65 year old member In 15 years time 1s expected to live on average to 85
years of age Mortality assumptions for the SPH scheme are based on the Dutch Table AG 2000-2050 Using the
2007-2012 table as a starting point and a one-year age set back indicates that today's 65 year old member 1s
expected to ive on average to approximately 84 years of age and a 65 year old member In 15 years time 1s
expected to live on average to approximately 85 years of age

Income statement costs
Under [AS 19 costs in relation to pension and post-retirement plans mainly anise as follows

+ The current service cost Is the actuanally determined present value of the pension benefits earned by
employees in the current perniod No charge or credit 15 reflected here for any surplus or defict in the
scheme and so the cost 1s unrelated to whether, or how, the scheme 1s funded

* The expected return on assets 15 the actuanal forecast of total return (that is, ncome and gans) on the
actual assets in the scheme This is a long term rate and 15 set at the beginning of the period

* The interest cost 15 the notional interest cost ansing from unwinding the discount on the scheme
liabilities, based on the discount rate (that 1s, appropnate bond rate} at the beginning of the period

These items are treated as a net operating cost in profit and loss within employee remuneration

Varnations from expected costs, ansing from the experience of the plans or changes in actuarial assumptions, are
recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income Examples of such varations are differences
between the estimated return on scheme assets (credited to profit and loss) and the actual return, the
remeasurement of scheme liabililes to reflect changes in discount rates, changes in demographic assumptions
such as using updated mortality tables, or the effect of more employees leaving service than forecast
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32. Pensions and post-retirement benefits continued

Incomne statement pension costs arose as follows

Notes to tha consclidated accounts

BSPS CESPS SPH QOther Tatal
2010 £m Em £m £m Em
Current service cost 88 - 38 3 129
Interest cost 544 - 243 11 748
Expected return on plan assets (536) - {219) (6) (761)
Settlements, curtalments and past
service costs 27 (30) - (1) @)
Defined benefit schemes 123 {30) 62 7 162
Defined contribution schemes - - - 6 6
Total charge/{credit) for the penod 123 (30) 62 13 168
2000 o . St ' e
Current service cost 107 - 34 3 144
Interest cost 566 47 232 7 852
Expected return on plan assets (579) (52) (229) {7) (867)
Past service costs 3 - - 1 4
Defined benefit schemes 97 {5 37 4 133
Defined contribution schemes - - - 7 7
Total charge/(credit) for the perod 97 {5) 37 11 140

The total charge for the pernod above includes credits of £3m (2009 £4m) that are included withun net restructuning
costs The actual return on plan assels for the above schemes was a gain of £3,091m (2009 loss of £1,163m)

Balance sheet measurement

In determining the amounts to be recognised In the balance sheet the following approach has been adopted

* Pension scheme assels are measured at far value {for example for quoted secunties this I1s the bid-
market value on the relevant public exchange)

s  Pension liabilities include future benefits that wil be paid to pensioners and deferred penstoners, and
accrued benefits which will be paid in the future for members in service taking into account projected
earings As noled above, the pension liabilities are discounted with reference to the current rate of
return on AA rated corporate bonds of equivalent currency and term to the pension hability

Amournits recognised in the balance sheet arose as follows

BSPS SPH Other Total
2010 £m £m £m £m
Farr value of plan assets at end of penod 10,968 4,919 a3 15,980
Present value of obligation at end of peniod {10,740) {4,888) (208) (15,836)
Defined benefit agset/{liability} at end of period 228 31 {115) 144
Disclosed as
Defined benefit asset 228 31 1 260
Defined benelfit lability — current - - (2) {2)
Defined benefit hability — non-current - - {114) {114)
Arising from
Funded schemes 228 3 {37) 222
Unfunded schemes - - {78) (78)
2009 ™ e S e im
Fair value of plan assets at end of penod 8,763 665 4,239 86 13,7583
Present value of obhigation at end of penod {8,084) {695) (4,164) {195)  {13,138)
Defined benefit asset/(llability) at end of penod 679 (30} 75 {109} 615
Disclosed as
Defined benefit asset 679 - 75 2 756
Defined benefit lability — current - - - (2) (2)
Defined benefit lability — non-current - {30) - (109) {(139)
Anstng from
Funded schemes 679 (30) 5 (37) 687
Unfunded schemes - - - (72) (72)

Included within other programmes above are post-retirement medical and similar net obhgations of £8m (2009

£9my}
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32. Pensions and post-retirement benefits continued

The percentage of total plan assets for each category of investment was as follows

Notes to tha consolidated accounts

2010 BSP% sp; o:h.;:
Equities 28 23 65
Bonds 64 60 19
Property 5 8 5
Cash/others 3 9 11
100 100 100
2009 BSF‘.i CESP'S sp‘:; om:;
Equities 25 40 17 54
Bonds 68 55 63 26
Property 5 3 10 10
Cash/others 2 2 10 10
100 400 100 100
Movements in the plan assets and benefit obligations dunng the penod arose as follows
2010 ™ - S = i
Plan assets
Farr value at start of perod 8,763 665 4,239 86 13,753
Expected return on plan assets 536 - 219 6 761
Employer contnbutions 106 - 60 3 169
Employee contributions 41 - 29 - 70
Benefits pad (683) - {227) (8) (918}
Settiements 665 (665) - (8) {8}
Actuarial gain on plan assets 1,540 - 775 15 2,330
Exchange rate movements - - (176) (1) (177}
Fair value at end of period 10,968 - 4919 93 15,980
Benefit obhigations
Benefit obligations at start of perniod 8,084 695 4164 195 13,138
Current service cost 88 - 38 3 129
Interest cost 544 - 243 11 798
Settlements, curtailments and past service costs 692 (695) - (9) {12}
Employee contnbutions 41 - 29 - 70
Benefits paid (683) - (227) (8) (918)
Actuarial loss on benefit obligation 1,974 - 814 24 2,812
Exchange rate movements - - (173) {8) {181)
Benefit obligations at end of perod 10,740 - 4,888 208 15,836
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32. Pensions and post-retirement benefits continued

2009 o ™ *tn e =
Plan assets

Fair value at start of penod 9,821 819 4,029 a3 14,762
Expected return on plan assets 579 52 229 7 867
Employer contributions 104 5 50 5 164
Employee contributions 48 - 29 - 77
Benefits paid (501) (37) {200) (9) {747)
Actuanal loss on plan assels (1,288) (174) (541) 27) (2,030}
Exchange rate movements - - 543 17 660
Fair value at end of period 8,763 665 4,239 86 13,753
Benefit obligations

Benefit obligations at start of period 8,819 738 3,693 178 13,428
Current service cost 107 - M 3 144
Interest cost 566 47 232 7 852
Settlements, curtailments and past service costs 3 - - 1 4
Employee contributions 48 - 29 - 77
Disposal of group undertakings - - - (19) (19}
Benefits paid {501) {37} (200) (9) (747}
Actuanal (gain)/loss on benefit obhigation (958) (53) (244) 2 (1,253}
Exchange rate movements - - 620 32 652
Benefit obhgatlons at end of period 8,084 695 4,164 195 13,138

The estimated employer contnibutions to the BSPS and to the SPH scheme for 2011 are £87m and €68m
respectively The employer contnbutions for 2011 in relation to other schemes are forecast to be consistent wath
2010 levels

The history of plan assets, benefit obhigations and actuanal gains or losses 1s as follows

2010 2009 2008
Fair value of plan assets at end of penod {Em) 15,980 13,753 14,762
Expenence adjustments on plan assets

Amount (Em} 2,330 (2,030) (28)
Percentage of plan assets (%) 15 15 1

Present value of benefit obligations at end of penod (Em) 15,836 13,138 13,428
Actuarial adjustments on benefit obligations

Changes in assumptions (Em) (2,950) 979 856
Expernience gains/(losses) {Em) 138 274 {(113)
Total actuanal (loss)/gain on benefit obligations (£m) (2,812) 1,253 743
Expenience gains/{losses) as a percentage of benefit obligations (%) 1 2 (1)

Actuanal losses recorded In the statement of comprehensive income for the pericd are £482m {2009 £777m),
taking the cumulative amount to £544m (2009 £62m)

33. Acquisitions

On 12 May 2009, TSE completed the purchase of a 12% shareholding of Corus Yasan Metal Sanay: ve Ticaret AS
for a consideration of US$ 3m Corus Yasan Metal Sanayi ve Ticaret AS 1s now a 100% subsidiary of TSE with
25 5% being purchased in July 2008

2010 2009

£m £m
Acquisition of minonty share of net assets - 2
Goodwall ansing on the transaction {Note 7) 2 2
Total consideration paid 2 4
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34. Related party transactions

The table below sets out details of transactions which occurred in the normal course of business at market rates
and terms, and loans between the Group, Its parent and its joint ventures and associates Loans owed to parent
undertakings carry interest on rates between 0 6% and 5 87% (2009 0 1%) per annum charged on the outstanding
loan balance

2010 2009

£m £m

Sales to joint ventures 19 30
Sales to associates 64 81
Sales to other group companies 130 105
Purchases from joint ventures 26 21
Purchases from associates 19 35
Purchases from other group companies 30 60
Recharges tc parent undertakings - 3
Amounts owed by other group companies 16 4
Amounts owed by parent undertakings 3 5
Amounts owed by joint ventures 22 i5
Amounis cwed by associates 5 7
Amounts owed to other group companies 5 6
Amounts owed to parent undertakings 1 -
Amounts owed to joint ventures 6 2
Amounts owed to associates 4 4
Interest on loans from parent undertakings a3 13
Interest payable to parent undertakmgs 3 14
Loans owed to parent undertakings 778 250

Aggregate compensatien for key management personnel, being the Board of directors and other Executive
committee members of TSE was as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

Short term employee benefits 5 8
Post-employment benefits 1 1
Other long term benefits - 3
Termination benefits 2 -
8 12

35. Post balance sheet events

As noted on page 10, subsequent {o the year end the secunbsation programme was increased on 4 June 2010
from £150m to £250m

36. Ultimate and immediate parent company

Tata Steel Global Holdings Pte Limited 1s the company's immediate parent Company, which is incorporated and
registered in Singapore

TSL, a company ncorporated in India, 1s the ultimate parent Company and controliing party

Copies of the Report & Accounts for TSL may be obtained from its registered office at Bombay House, 24 Homi
Mody Street, Mumbai, 400 001
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37. Main subsidiaries and investments

Notes I the consolidated accounts

The most important subsidiary undertakings, joint ventures and assoctates of the Group at 31 March 2010 are set
out below A complete list of subsidiary undertakings, joint ventures and associates will be attached to the Annual
Return to the Registrar of Companies Country names are countries of incorporation Undertakings operate
principally in their country of incorporation except where otherwise stated

Subsidiary undertakings

Steel producing, further processing or related activities

England and Wales
Corus Group Limited
Corus UK Limited

Corus International (Overseas Holdings) L.td

Tata Steel UK Limited
Tuhp UK Holdings (No 2) Limited (a)
Tuhp UK Holdings (No 3) Limited

Beigium
Corus International Services NV
Corus Packaging Plus Belgium NV

Brazid

Corus International Representagdes Do Brasil LTDA

Bulgara
Corus Bullding Systems Bulgara AD

Canada
Cogent Power Inc Canada

China
Kalzip (Guangzhou) Limited

Czech Repubhic
Corus Central Europe sro

Denmark
Corus Byggesystemer AS

Finland
Corus Finland Oy

France

Corus Batiment et Systémes SA
Corus France SA

Corus Holdings SA

Mynad SA

Corus Raill France SA

Unito! SA

Sacra Nord SA

Germany

Blume Stahlservice GmbH
Corus Stahl GmbH

S AB Profil GmbH

Kalzip GmbH

Ireland (Republic of)
The Steel Company of Ireland Limited

India
Corus International {India) Prvate Ltd

italy
Corus Italiz Srl

Netherfands

Corus Nederland BV

Corus Services Nederland BV
Corus Staal BV

Corus Investment BV

BS International 8v

British Steel Benelux BV

BS Holdings BV

BS Nederland International BV
Tata Steel Netherlands BV
Tulip Netherlands (No 1) BV
Tulp Netherlands (No 2) BV
S AB Profiel BV

New Zealand
Corus New Zealand Linited

Norway
Corus Norge AS

Pofand
Corus Polska Sp zo o

Stngapore
Kalzip Asra Pte Ltd

Span
Corus Laminacidn y Denvados SL

Sweden
Surahammar Bruks AB
Corus Byggsystem AB

Switzerland
Montana-Bausysteme AG

Turkey
Corus Metal Sanay ve Ticaret AS

Unrted Arab Emirales
Corus Middle East FZE

Urited States of America

Tata Stesl Internationa! (Amencas) Holding Inc {formerly
Corus Amenca Holdings Inc)

Tata Steel International (Amencas) Inc (formerly Corus
Amenca tnc)

Hoogovens USA Inc

Insurance underwriting for certain risks of the Group
Iste of Man
Crucible Insurance Company Limited

Other undertakings

England and Wales
UK Steel Enterprise Limited

Tata Steet Europe Umited Report and Accounts 2010 66




37. Main subsidiaries and investments continued

Notes te the consolidated accounts

Unless indicated otherwise, subsidiary undertakings are wholly owned within the Group, and the Group holding
comprises ordinary shares and 100% of the voting rights

(a) The Company only owns shares directly in Tulip UK Holdings {No 2} Limited {(100%) All other undertakings are
owned by other subsidiaries of the Company

Joint ventures and associates

Annual sates

Issued capital

Products £m Number of shares % held
England and Wales
Caparo Merchant Bar plc Light sections 82 ordinary shares of £1 2,466,667 25
Greece
Corus Kalpinos Simos SA Importing, processing and 19 shares of €29 233,500 50
trading of steel and
panels/profiles
manufacture
Netherlands
HKS Scrap Metals BY Purchase and sale of 214 shares of €454 40,000 50
scrap
Laura Metaal Helding BV Trading and processing of 84 shares of €454 5,600 49
nen-pnme metal
Daniel Corus Technical Services BV Supply of engineening, 57 shares of €355 41,750 80
proprietary equipment
contracting in the metals
ndustry
Norway
Norsk Stal AS Stockholders and 162 shares of NOK1,000 63,500 50
Norsk Stal Tynnplater AS processing of strip and 39 shares of NOK1,000 26,500 50

long products
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities on the parent
company’s financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
apphcable law and regulations Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each
financial year Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepled Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable taw} Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affars of the company and of the profit or loss of the
company for that period In prepanng these financial statements, the directors are required to

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentiy,
make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any materal
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropnate to presume
that the company will continue i business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Compantes Act 2006 They
are also respansible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other iregulariies

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the corporate and financial infoermation

included on the company's website Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other junsdictions
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tata Steel
Europe Limited

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Tata Steel Europe Limited for the year ended 31
March 2010 which comprise the Parent Company Balance Sheet, the presentation of accounts and the related
notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards {United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)}

This report 1s made selely to the company’s members, as a body, In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Comparies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibiity to anyone other than the
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explaned more fully in the Directors” Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the parent company financial statements and for being satsfied that they give a true and far
view Our responsibility 1s to audit the parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient
lo give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to
the parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the
financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the parent company financial statements

* give atrue and farr view of the state of the parent company’s affars as at 31 March 2010 and of its
result for the year then ended,

* have been properly prepared In accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, and

¢ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Comparues Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the parent company financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, In our opinion
+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us, or
« the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns, or
* certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter
We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Tata Steel Europe Limited for the year
ended 31 March 2010

Pt LA LT
Andrew Kelly (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutery Auditors
London, United Kingdom
23 June 2010
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Parent company balance sheet

2010 2009

As a1 31 March Note £m Em

Fixed assets

Investments 1n subsidiary and fellow group undertakings 2 3,503 3,503
3,503 3,503

Current assets

Debtors amounts falling due within one year 3 4 1

Current liabilities

Creditors amounts falling due within one year 4 {28) {(14)

Net current habilities {24) {13)

Total assets less current habilities 3,479 3,480

Net assets 3,479 3,490

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 5 3,515 3,515

Profit and loss account 3] (36) (25)
3,479 3,490

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

F P Royle
23 June 2010

Notes and related statements forming part of these accounts appear on pages 71to 73
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Presentation of parent company accounts and accounting policies

Presentation of parent company accounts and accounting
policies

| Basis of preparation of parent company accounts

The separate accounts for the parent company Tata Stee! Europe Limted (‘'TSE'), are presented on pages 68
to 73 They have been prepared under the histoncal cost convention In accordance with the Companies Act
2006, the accounting policies set out below, and following applicable accounting standards in the UK These
pages only show the individual accounts of the Company itself All accounting policies have been applied
consistently

Il Use of estimates
The preparation of accounts in line with generally accepled accounting principles requres management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the

(1) reported amounts of assets and liabilittes,

(n) disclosure of contingent assets and labilites at the date of the accounts, and

{m) reported amounts of income and expenses during the penod

Actual results could differ from those estimates The most significant techriques for estmation are descrnbed
in the accounting peolicies below

lIf Taxation

Deferred tax 1s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit, and s accounted for using the balance sheet habtity method Deferred tax habilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences In contrast, deferred tax assels are only recognised
to the extent that 1t 1s probable that future taxable profits will be avallable against which the temporary
differences can be utlised Liabilites are not recognised for taxable temporary dfferences arising on
investments in subsidianes, joint ventures and associates where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future

Both current and deferred tax items are calculated using the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
when the liabiity 1s setiled or the asset 1s realised This means using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period Deferred tax 15 charged or credited in the income
stalement, except when it relates to tems charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax
1s also dealt with in equity

IV Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial habiliies are recognised on the Company’s balance sheet when the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument The detalled accounting treatment for such
items can differ, as descnbed in the following sections

{a) Investments

Investments are stated at cost Provisions are made for any permanent diminution in value Income from
nvestments compnises dividends declared up to the balance sheet date and, where relevant, before
deductions of withholding tax

(b} Financial habilihes and equity
Financial lhabihies and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the tndmidual
contractual arrangements

V Statement of cash flows and related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available to it under FRS 1 ‘Statement of cash flows’ not
to prepare a statement of cash flows The exemptions afforded by FRS 8 'Related Party Disclosures’
paragraphs 3(a) and {c) have also been taken i disclosing related party transactions
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Notes ta the parent company accounts

Notes to the parent company accounts

1. Resuit of the Company

The Company recorded a loss of £11m (2009 £14m) and has taken advantage of the exemption under
seclion 408 of the Compantes Act 2006 allowing it not to present its own profit and loss account

2. Fixed asset investments

2010 2009

Shares In Shares in

subsidiary subsidiary

undertakings undertakings

£m £m

Cost and net book value at beginning and end of period 3,503 3,503

The Company's main subsidianes and investments are listed in Note 37 of the consolidated accounts, on
pages 66 and 67

3. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

2010 2009

£m £m

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 4 1
4. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2010 2009

£m £m

Amounts owed to group undertakings 28 14

5. Share capital

2010 2009

Authonsed £m £m

5,000,000,000 (2009 5,000,000,000) ordinary shares of £1 each 5,000 5,000

2010 2009

Allotted, called up and fully pad £m £m

3.514,860,999 (2009 3,514,860,999) ordinary shares of £1 each 3,515 3,515

The movements in share capital are set out below
Ordinary shares

Authonsed No of shares £m

2010

At beginning and end of penod 5,000,000,000 5,000
Ordinary shares

Authonsed No_of shares £im

2009

At beginning and end of penod 5,000,000,000 5,000
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Notes to the parent company accounts

5. Share capital continued

Qrdinary shares.
lssued No ofshares £m
2010
At beginning and end of period 3,514,860,999 3,515
Ordinary sheres
Issued No of sheres £m
2009
At beginring of period 3,514,423,996 3,514
New shares 1ssued 437,003 1
At end of penod 3,514,860,999 3,515
6. Reconciliation of movements in share capital and reserves
Profit and loss
Share capital reserves Total
£m £m £m
2010
At beginming of pernod 3,515 (25) 3,490
Loss retained - (11) (11)
At end of period 3,515 (38) 3,479
Profit and loss
Share capital reserves Total
£m £m £m
2009
At beginning of period 3,514 (11) 3,503
Loss retained - (14) (14)
New shares 1gsued 1 - 1
At end of period 3,515 (25) 3,430
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